

# Marker-Assisted Selection (MAS) in Major Cereal and Legume Crop Breeding: Current Progress and Future Directions

Shuyu Liu<sup>1</sup> • Mitali Banik<sup>1</sup> • Kangfu Yu<sup>1\*</sup> • Soon J. Park<sup>1</sup> • Vaino Poysa<sup>1</sup> • Yanan Guan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Greenhouse and Processing Crops Research Centre, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 2585 County Rd. 20, Harrow, Ontario, NOR 1G0, Canada
 <sup>2</sup> Institute of Crop Science, Shandong Academy of Agricultural Sciences, 28 Sangyuan Rd. Jinan, 250100, Shandong, China

Corresponding author: \* yuk@agr.gc.ca

# ABSTRACT

With the development of molecular markers in crops, genetic and physical maps have been constructed in several important crops. Genes or QTL conditioning important agronomic traits were mapped onto chromosomes or genetic linkage groups through analyses of mapping populations. This paper reviews the application of marker-assisted selection (MAS) in three major cereal crops, wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), maize (*Zea mays* L.) and rice (*Oryza sativa* L.), as well as two legume crops, soybean (*Glycine max* L.) and common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). The important traits mapped in biotic stresses include resistances to bacterial, viral and fungal diseases; resistances to insects, such as aphids, green bugs, and Hessian flies; and resistance to nematodes. Other traits include tolerance to abiotic factors like drought, high temperature, and soil nutrient deficiency; seed quality and nutrient components; as well as yield and its components. The advantages and disadvantages of using MAS in crop breeding are discussed. This paper is a summary of available MAS strategies and potential application of MAS in tracking more traits in practical breeding. Future utilization of MAS is also discussed. As a review of MAS in five important crops across cereals and legumes, we believe it provides useful information to crop breeders and molecular geneticists.

Keywords: disease resistance, drought tolerance, *Glycine max* L., insect resistance, marker-assisted selection, *Oryza sativa* L., *Phaseolus vulgaris* L., single nucleotide polymorphism, *Triticum aestivum* L., *Zea mays* L.

# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	. 74
MAS FOR RESISTANCE TO BIOTIC STRESSES	. 75
MAS in wheat	. 75
MAS in maize	78
MAS in rice	. 78
MAS in soybean	. 79
MAS in common bean	. 79
MAS FOR RESISTANCE TO ABIOTIC STRESSES	. 80
MAS for drought tolerance	. 80
Lodging resistance	. 80
Cold tolerance	. 80
MAS FOR IMPROVEMENT OF OTHER TRAITS	. 80
High protein and other nutrition improvement	. 80
Plant nutrition and other traits	. 81
PROS AND CONS OF MAS	. 81
Advantages of MAS	. 81
Considerations in use of MAS	. 82
Advantages of combination of MAS and phenotypic selection	. 82
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	83

# INTRODUCTION

Morphological markers were the first type of markers used in genetic maps in maize (*Zea mays* L.) (Creighton and McClintock 1931). Isoenzyme markers were later used in maize (Schwartz 1960). Due to the limited number of these two types of markers, they could not be used widely in constructing genetic maps. Botstein *et al.* (1980) developed restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) markers. As co-dominant markers they could distinguish between the homozygotes and heterozygotes. Due to the complicated procedures and radioactive materials involved in RFLP markers, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) markers, like randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers, were soon developed. These markers were used by breeders very often in marker-assisted selection (MAS) in bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) and other crops (Williams *et al.* 1990; Kelly and Miklas 1998). Due to their poor repeatability, RAPD bands were cloned and sequenced to design sequence characterized amplified region (SCAR) markers (Haley *et al.* 1994; Yu *et al.* 2000a). These SCAR markers had longer primer sequences and amplified single target

Received: 8 June, 2007. Accepted: 14 August, 2007.

bands with better stability and repeatability, making them popular with breeders.

As more genomic DNA sequences became available in crops, simple sequence repeats (SSR) or microsatellites were developed in wheat (Röder et al. 1998; Somers et al. 2004; Song et al. 2005), maize (Davis et al. 1999), rice (Wu and Tanksley 1993), soybean (Cregan et al. 1999a), and bean (Yu et al. 1999, 2000b; Gaitan-Solis et al. 2002; Metais et al. 2002; Blair et al. 2003). Although SSR markers have multiple loci, their polymorphism is limited, especially in mapping populations from parents with narrow genetic backgrounds. To increase the polymorphism, Vos et al. (1995) proposed amplified fragment length polymorphic (AFLP) markers. This type of marker combined the advantages of both RFLP and PCR. It has been applied in genetic map constructions of most crops in combination with other types of markers. For any given core map in crops, all of the markers mentioned above were involved (Röder et al. 1998; Freyre et al. 1998; Cregan et al. 1999a; Davis et al. 1999; McCouch et al. 2002; Song et al. 2005). As more sequences from genomic DNA, expressed sequence tags (EST), cDNA, bacterial artificial Chromosome (BAC) and yeast artificial chromosome (YAC) clones for many crops became available, single nucleotide polymorphic (SNP) markers were designed. SNP markers became a powerful tool to detect polymorphism and for use in MAS in crops (Gupta and Rustgi 2004; Chen G et al. 2005). Four SNP genotyping assays including single-base extension (SBE), allele-specific primer extension (ASPE), oligo-nucleotide ligation (OL), and direct hybridization (DH) were compared by Lee SH et al. (2004). SBE and ASPE were more accurate and ASPE was more cost-effective and simple, however, OL was faster and DH was even more economical. SNPs were attractive to breeders because of their abundance and potential for use in automated high-throughput genotyping with no-gel assay (Gupta et al. 2001). The transition from random DNA markers to markers developed from transcriptomes and other coding sequences, and their application in MAS were reviewed by Gupta and Rustgi (2004). Hayashi et al. (2004) studied SNPs and small insertion/deletion (InDels) polymorphisms at Piz and Piz-t regions, two resistance genes to rice blast. On average, there was one SNP in every 248 bp. SNPs could be used to generate numerous markers within a target region and were simple to assay. SNP genotyping with allele-specific PCR has become valuable for genetic mapping, map-based cloning and MAS.

As core maps have been constructed in most important crops, breeders and molecular geneticists can study the traits of interest using their own mapping population with references from the core maps. They can either use available markers on those core maps or design their own specific markers to be used in MAS in their own breeding populations.

As new types of markers were developed, technologies to detect them have changed in the following areas: 1) from regular agarose to polyacrylamide gel to increase the precision of detected bands, 2) DNA staining methods from ethidium bromide, SYBR Safe, and silver to florescent to increase the feasibility, and 3) from gel to non-gel assays to facilitate automation and high-throughput screening. Nonelectrophoresis-based PCR assays for allelic discrimination using fluorogenic 5'-nuclease procedure (TaqMan) were described by Salvi *et al.* (2001). This automation facilitates large-scale screening and MAS.

In the following sections of the paper, we review some progress on MAS in breeding in five important crops.

## MAS FOR RESISTANCE TO BIOTIC STRESSES

We summarize those studies in which MAS has been applied or where there is high potential for MAS to be used in wheat, maize, rice, soybean and common bean for resistance to biotic stresses caused by bacteria, virus, fungi, nematodes, and several insects including aphids, Hessian flies, and green bugs (Table 1).

#### MAS in wheat

Fusarium head blight (FHB, mainly caused by *Fusarium* graminearum) and rust (caused by *Puccinia* spp.) resistances as well as resistance to Hessian fly [*Mayetiola destructor* (Say)], Russian wheat aphid (RWA, *Diuraphis* noxia), and green bug (*Schizaphis graminum*), are very important in wheat breeding.

For FHB resistance in wheat, A 3BS QTL conditioning type II FHB resistance (resistance to Fusarium spread) from Sumai 3 has been intensively studied and applied in breeding (Anderson et al. 2001). This QTL, fhb1, was validated using near-isogenic lines (NILs) from 13 different populations (Pumphrey et al. 2007). More recent studies focus on the type III (resistance to accumulation of deoxynivalenol (DON)) (Somers et al. 2003; Lemmens et al. 2005; Paul et al. 2005) and type IV (kernel quality) resistances (Abate et al. 2007). Combinations of different types of FHB resistances are being studied (Abate et al. 2007; Miedaner et al. 2006). The FHB resistant sources from local adapted varieties have been identified and studied (Rudd et al. 2001; Liu S et al. 2005a, 2007a; Abate et al. 2007). Chen J et al. (2006) studied two major QTL on 3BS and 5AS from the Chinese cultivar W14. Markers Xbarc133 and Xgwm493 flanking the QTL on 3BS (Anderson *et al.* 2001) and Xbarc56 and Xbarc117 flanking the QTL on 5AS were used in MAS to pyramid these two QTL to develop cultivars with resistance to initial infection, disease spread, kernel damage and deoxynivalenol (DON) accumulation. Fhb2 on 6BS flanked by Xgwm133 and Xgwm644 were confirmed by field spray experiments (Cuthbert et al. 2007). In durum wheat, Qfhs.ndsu-3AS was mapped on 3AS of T. dicoccoides and not homologous to Qfhs.ndsu-3BS. Flanking markers Xfcp401 and Xfcp397.2 can improve MAS of this QTL (Chen XF et al. 2007). Some adapted and unadapted FHB resistant sources have more than two types of resistances which will facilitate MAS in breeding for multiple FHB resistances as well as in integration with other disease resistances.

Leaf rust (Puccinia triticina) is one of the most damaging diseases of wheat worldwide. Sequenced tagged Site (STS) markers linked to Lr9, Lr10, Lr19, Lr24, Lr29 and *Lr35* were highly specific and very useful in MAS for these genes (Baszczyk *et al.* 2004). Three markers, Xwmc764, Xgwm210 and Xwmc661 are the most suitable markers to select Lr16 in breeding programs or to pyramid it with other leaf rust resistance genes (McCartney et al. 2005). Four Xgwm372 markers Xgwm95, Xgwm47, SSR and Xgwm122 co-segregating with Lr45, were identified (Zhang N et al. 2007). Tightly linked markers have been used to select lines with two genes, Lr19 and Lr24 (Slikova et al. 2004) and three genes, Lr10, Lr26, and Lr37 (Singh and Tiwari et al. 2005) and four genes, Lr1, Lr9, Lr24 and Lr47 (Nocente et al. 2007). Slow leaf rusting resistance is very important in breeding due to its durability compared to race-specific resistance. SSR markers linked to QTL for decreasing final severity, infection rate, and infection duration in CI 13227 have potential to be used in MAS for these traits (Xu et al. 2005). Flanking markers linked to Yr5 was identified (Smith et al. 2007). Peng et al. (2000) identified SSR markers linked to a stripe rust (caused by Puccinia striiformis) resistance gene, YrH52, at a distance of 0.33 cM. Markers within 5 cM are efficient to select homozygous resistant plants. Xbarc101 co-segregates with Yr36, a gene for adult-plant resistance to stripe rust on chromosome 6B. As another flanking marker of  $\bar{Y}r36$ , Xucw71 is also linked to the grain protein content locus  $Gpc-B_1$ , MAS for two traits is possible (Uauy et al. 2005). SCAR markers SC-gp1 and SC-D04 co-segregated with a barley yellow dwarf (BYD) viral resistance gene, Bdv2, which can be used in MAS to breed BYD resistant cultivars (Zhang et al. 2004).

Winter wheat cultivar, Massey, has three QTL on 1B, 2A, and 2B associated with resistance to powdery mildew

Table 1 Markers tightly linked to some important traits for marker-assisted selection in wheat, maize, rice, soybean and common bean.

Crops Wheat	Traits Fusarium head blight	Resistance QTL/genes <sup>1</sup> Ofhs.ndsu-3BS; QTL on	Markers for MAS Xwgm533.1, Xbarc147, Xbarc133 and	References Anderson <i>et al.</i> 2001; Chen J. <i>et al.</i>
wheat	Pusarium neau oligiti	5AS; <i>Qfhs.ndsu-3AS</i> ; <i>Fhb2</i>	Xgwm493; Xbarc56 and Xbarc117; Xfcp401, Xfcp397.2; Xgwm133,	2006; Chen <i>et al.</i> 2007; Cuthbert <i>et al.</i> 2007
			Xgwm644	
	Stem rust	Sr2	Xgwm533	Hayden et al. 2004
	Leaf rust	Lr16; Lr1, Lr47; Lr45; Lr9,	Xwmc764, Xgwm210, Xwmc661;	McCartney et al. 2005; Nocente et al.
		Lr10, Lr29, Lr26, Lr37, Lr19, Lr24	PTAG621, PS10; Xgwm47.133, Xgwm372.180, Xgwm122.110	2007; Zhang N <i>et al.</i> 2007; Slikova <i>et al.</i> 2004; Baszczyk <i>et al.</i> 2004; Singh and Tiwari 2005
	Slow leaf rusting	QTL		Xu et al. 2005
	Powdery mildew	Pm3; Pm4a; Pm21; Qpm.vt-2A, Qpm.vt-2B	Pm3FR; BCD292; NAU/Xibao16; Xgwm304, Xgwm501	Tommasini <i>et al.</i> 2007; Ma <i>et al.</i> 1994; Liu <i>et al.</i> 2001; Gao <i>et al.</i> 2005; Chen YP <i>et al.</i> 2006; Tucker <i>et al.</i> 2006
	Stripe rust	Yr5; Yr36; YrH52	Xwmc175; Xbarc101, Xucw71; Xgwm413-Xgwm273a	Smith <i>et al.</i> 2007; Peng <i>et al.</i> 2000; Uauy <i>et al.</i> 2005
	Barley yellow dwarf	Bdv2	SC-gp1, SC-D04	Zhang et al. 2004
	Septoria tritici blotch	Stb2	Xgwm389, Xgwm533.1	Adhikari et al. 2004
	Spot blotch Karnal bunt	<i>QTL</i> QTL	Xgwm67, Xgwm469, Xgwm570 gwm538snp.152, OPM-20	Sharma <i>et al.</i> 2007 Brooks <i>et al.</i> 2006
				Kumar <i>et al.</i> 2006
	Green bug	Gb3; Gbx1, Gba, Gbb, Gbc, Gbd, Gbz	Xwmc 634	Weng et al. 2002, 2005; Zhu et al. 2005
	Russian wheat aphid	Dn4; Dn2; Dn6, Dn7, Dn1, Dn5	Xgwm106, Xgwm337, red glum gene <i>Rg2</i> ; Xgwm437; Xrems1303.320; Xgwm44, Xgwm111	Arzani <i>et al.</i> 2004; Miller <i>et al.</i> 2001; Lapitan <i>et al.</i> 2007; Liu <i>et al.</i> 2002
	Hessian fly	H9; H16, H17; H22; H10; H11; H13; H32	Xbarc263, Xcfa2153, SOPO05.909; Xpsp2999, Xwem6b; Xhor2kv, Xgdm33	Kong <i>et al.</i> 2005, 2007; Zhao <i>et al.</i> 2006; Liu XM <i>et al.</i> 2005a, 2005b; Sardesai <i>et al.</i> 2005
	Cereal cyst nematode	Cre3; CreX; CreY	Xgwm301; OpY16-(1065)	Martin <i>et al.</i> 2004; Barloy <i>et al.</i> 2007
	Root-lesion nematode Dough strength, loaf	QTL QTL; <i>Gpc-B1</i>	Xbcd1821, Xcdo456 Xbarc15-2A, Xgwm666-3A, Xpsp2999-	Zwart <i>et al</i> . 2006 Uauy <i>et al</i> . 2005; Kuchel <i>et al</i> . 2006
	volume, protein content	Q12, 0p0 21	1A; Xucw71	Cuuj et un 2000, 1100101 et un 2000
	Grain texture, protein quantity	QTL	Xpsr3261, Xbarc141	Turner et al. 2004
	Protein	HWM-GS 5 + 10		Zhang et al. 2003
	Low polyphenol oxidase activity	QTL	Xgwm312	Watanabe et al. 2006
	Stem strength; stem diameter, pith diameter, culm wall thickness for lodging	QSs-3A, QSs-3B(QSd-3B); QPd-1A, QPd-2D (QCwt- 2D)	Xwmc527-Xwmc21, Xgwm108- Xwmc291; Xgwm135-Xwmc84, Xgwm311-Xgwm301	Hai <i>et al</i> . 2005
	Yield (drought)	QTL	Xwmc89; Xgwm261	Kirigwi et al. 2007; Kumar et al. 2007
	Dwarfing	<i>Rht-B1b</i> , <i>Rht-D1b</i> ; <i>Rh4</i> , <i>Rh5</i> , <i>Rht9</i> , <i>Rht12</i> , <i>Rht13</i>	BF-MR1, DF-MR2	Ellis <i>et al.</i> 2002
	Aluminum tolerance	OTL	Xbarc164, Xwmc331	Zhou et al. 2007
Maize	Southern corn leaf blight European corn borer	<i>rhm</i> QTL	rhm-F/R umc123, umc110	Cai et al. 2003 Flint-Garcia et al. 2003; Cardinal et al.
	1		,	2006
	Southwestern corn borer	QTL	Umc63; csu173-umc126a, csu26a- umc68; umc140#2, umc65a-umc21; umc103a; csu145a	Bohn <i>et al.</i> 1998
	Corn earworm	QTL, p1	csu1066-umc176	Butron et al. 2001
	Downy mildew	QTL	bnl 8.23-bnl 5.47a	George <i>et al.</i> 2003
	Gibberella ear rot	QTL	BC559.120, BC324.1400	Ali <i>et al.</i> 2005
	Anthesis-silking interval (ASI)	QTL		Ribaut et al. 1996, 2007
	Cell membrane stability	QTL		Frova <i>et al.</i> 1998
	Vertical root pulling Ear setting percentage, grain yield	QTL QTL		Landi <i>et al.</i> 2002 Li <i>et al.</i> 2003
	Carotenoid accumulation	Yellow 1, viviparous 9 o2, o16	Dupssr18-bnlg249, zdsRFLP-phi034 Umc1066, umc1041	Wong <i>et al.</i> 2004 Yang <i>et al.</i> 2005
	Bacterial leaf blight	Xa23; Xa21; xa13; Xa4; xa5; Xa7, xa29(t)	C189; pTA248; RG136; MP12; RG556, RG207	Sanchez <i>et al.</i> 2003; Singh <i>et al.</i> 2001; Joseph <i>et al.</i> 2004; Tan <i>et al.</i> 2004; Phan <i>et al.</i> 2005, Iyer-Pascuzzi and McCouch 2007; Wang CL <i>et al.</i> 2005; Deng <i>et al.</i> 2006a
Rice	Rice blast	Pi-1; Pi-k <sup>h</sup> ; Pi-b, Pi-k; pi- 5(t); Piz; Pigm(t)(Pi2, Pi9); Pi-ta; Piz (Piz-t), Pit, Pik, Pik-m, Pik-p, Pi-ta, Pi-ta2, Pib	MRG4766; S-129.700; RM208, RM224; JJ80-T3; MRG5836; C5483, C0428; YL155/YL87; z4794 -z60510, t256, k3951, k2167, k3957, ta3, b2	Chen ZW <i>et al.</i> 2005; Sharma <i>et al.</i> 2005; Fjellstrom <i>et al.</i> 2004; Yi <i>et al.</i> 2004; Conaway-Bormans <i>et al.</i> 2003; Deng Y <i>et al.</i> 2006; Wang <i>et al.</i> 2007; Hayashi <i>et al.</i> 2006

Crops	Traits	<b>Resistance</b> QTL/genes <sup>1</sup>	Markers for MAS	References
Rice	Green rice leaf hopper	Grh5	RM3754, RM3761	Fujita <i>et al.</i> 2006
	Brown plant-hopper	Bph2; Bph13(t); Bph9;	RM7102, RM463; AJ09.230; RM463,	Renganayaki et al. 2002; Su et al. 2005;
		Qbph11; Bph17	RM5341; XNpb202, C1172; RM8213, RM5953	Sun et al. 2005, 2006
	Drought tolerance, yield	QTL	RG939-RG476-RG214	Babu et al. 2003
	Root thickness	brt5b	RM161-R521	Li et al. 2005
	Deep root, root thickness	QTL	RG256-RG151	Kamoshita et al. 2002
	Drought tolerance	QTL	RM223, RM263	Kumar et al. 2005
	Low glutelin content	QTL	SSR2-004, RM1358	Wang YH et al. 2005
	Rice protein and fat content	<i>qRPC-5</i> ; <i>qRFC-2</i> ; <i>qRFC-5</i>	RG435-RG172a; RG241b-RG324; RG470-RG474	Hu <i>et al.</i> 2004
	Ferrous iron toxicity			Wan et al. 2003
	Elongating ability	QTL		Gregorio et al. 2002
	Thermo-sensitive genetic male sterile	rtms1; tms3(t)	Rev1, RM239-RG257; F18F/F18RM	Lang et al. 1999; Jia et al. 2001
	Seed dormancy	qSdn-1	RM104	Guo et al. 2004; Wan et al. 2006
	Seed vigor	<i>qSV-7</i>	RM214 - G20 - C285	Zhang ZH et al. 2005
	Heading date	Hd1; Hd2; Hd3; Hd6; Hd7;	S2539; C728; C764; R3226; C560;	Lin et al. 2000; Yamamoto et al. 2000;
		Hd4; Hd5, Hd9	R1485; S1633A	Lin et al. 2002, 2003
	Cold tolerance	Qsct-11	RM202	Chen W et al. 2005
Soybean	Soybean cyst nematode	rhg-1; rhg-t1	Satt309, Sat168; Satt038, Satt130	Mudge <i>et al.</i> 1997; Cregan <i>et al.</i> 1999b; Ferdous <i>et al.</i> 2006
	Soybean mosaic virus	Rsv3; Rsv4	A519F/R, M3Satt; Satt542, Satt558, AW471852R, Satt634	Hayes <i>et al.</i> 2000; Jeong <i>et al.</i> 2002, 2004; Hwang <i>et al.</i> 2006
	Frogeye leaf spot	Rcs3	Satt244, Satt547	Mian et al. 1999
	SDS	QTL	SAT99, SATT6	Njiti and Lightfoot 2006
	Root and stem rot	Rps8, Rps3	Sat_154	Sandhu et al. 2005
	Brown stem rot	Rbs1; Rbs2	Satt431; Satt244	Tamulonis et al. 2001
	Soybean rust	Rpp1	Barc_Sct_187, Barc_Sat_064	Hyten et al. 2007
	Soybean aphid	Rag1	Satt435, Satt463	Li et al. 2007
	Protein	Glycinin (11S, G4); beta- conglycinin (7S)	Satt461, Satt292, Satt156; Satt461, Satt249	Panthee et al. 2004
	Isoflavones	QTL	Satt201 - Satt540 - Satt245	Primomo et al. 2005
	Fatty acid content	QTL		Hyten et al. 2004b
	Palmitate acid	<i>fap</i> (nc)	GmFATB1a	Cardinal et al. 2007
	Linolenic acid	QTL	Satt534, Satt560	Spencer et al. 2004
	Alpha-tocophenol	QTL	Sat342, Sat167	Dwiyanti et al. 2007
	Iron-deficiency chlorosis		Satt481	Charlson et al. 2005
	Salt tolerance		Sat_091, Satt237	Lee GJ et al. 2004
Common bean	Common bacterial blight	QTL	UBC420, SU91, SAP6	Jung et al. 1997; Miklas et al. 2000a; Yu et al. 2000b
	Bean common mosaic virus	Ι	SW13	Melotto et al. 1996
	Bean common mosaic necrosis virus	<i>bc</i> -1 <sup>2</sup> , <i>bc</i> -2 <sup>2</sup> , <i>bc</i> -3	SBD5.1300, RCO11	Miklas et al. 2000b
	Bean gold mosaic virus	bgm-1	SR2	Blair et al. 2007
	Anthracnose	$Co-4^2$	SAS13	Melotto and Kelly 2001
	White mold	QTL	AFLP	Ender et al. 2007

<sup>1</sup>Gene, linked markers, and references are separated by ";" if they are corresponded specifically.

(caused by *Erysiphe graminis* f. sp. *tritici*). They can explain more than 50% of the phenotypic variation for adult plant resistance (Liu *et al.* 2001). Plants selected through MAS using markers linked to two QTL on 2A and 2B gave a high level of resistance in the field (Tucker *et al.* 2006). QTL mapping using lines from USG3209 confirmed that it has the QTL from Massey (Tucker *et al.* 2007). Gao *et al.* (2005) used MAS to pyramid *Pm2*, *Pm4a* and *Pm21* (Ma *et al.* 1994). Plants with *Pm21* showed immunity. Plants with *Pm2* and *Pm4a* showed greater levels of resistance than those with only one gene. A co-dominant marker linked to *Pm21* and developed from cDNA is very useful in MAS for this gene (Chen YP *et al.* 2006). Perfect markers were designed and tested for *Pm3* gene where seven alleles confer resistance (Tommasini *et al.* 2006). This can improve the efficiency in breeding.

Sharma *et al.* (2007) identified SSR markers linked to resistance to spot blotch (caused by *Cochliobolus sativus*) in *G162* and they may be useful in MAS. SSR loci Xgwm389 and Xgwm533.1 were about 1cM distal to *Stb2*,

a gene conferring resistance to Septoria tritici blotch (caused by *Mycosphaerella graminicola*) (Adhikari *et al.* 2004). Hayden *et al.* (2004) also reported that Xgwm533 was linked to the stem rust (caused by *Puccinia graminis*) resistance gene, *Sr2*. These two markers are also associated with a major QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance (Anderson *et al.* 2001). Using markers linked to multiple disease resistances should benefit breeders in developing multiple resistant cultivars. Zeng *et al.* (2005) conducted MAS for simultaneous resistance to powdery mildew, stripe rust and yellow dwarf virus in wheat and pyramided 3 to 5 genes (*Pm* + *Yr* + *Bdv*) into individual plants.

Marker Xgwm538 is linked to a QTL for Karnal bunt (caused by *Tilletia indica Mitra*) resistance in wheat line HD29. A new SNP designed as gwm538snp.152 selectively amplifies one target fragment, improving the consistency for MAS (Brooks *et al.* 2006). A RAPD marker OPM-20 is associated with a resistance QTL allele from Line HD29 (Kumar *et al.* 2006), which could be useful in MAS.

Two AFLP markers and one SSR marker, Xwmc 634,

co-segregate with Gb3, a green bug resistance gene on 7D (Weng *et al.* 2002, 2005). The converted STS markers from these two AFLPs and the SSR marker should be useful in MAS. Markers linked to other green bug resistance genes Gbx1, Gba, Gbb, Gbc, Gbd, Gbz on 7DL can be used to pyramid them into adapted wheat cultivars (Zhu *et al.* 2005).

Markers Xbarc263, Xcfa2153, and SOPO05.909 were specific to the Hessian fly resistance gene, H9 (Kong *et al.* 2005). Markers linked to a gene cluster including H9, H10, H11 on 1AS (11 more H11-like genes), H13 on 6DS (Liu XM *et al.* 2005a, 2005b) H22 on 1DS (Zhao *et al.* 2006) and H32 on 3D (Sardesai *et al.* 2005) have been identified. Markers Xpsp2999 and Xwem6b flanking H16 and H17were reported on 1AS by Kong *et al.* (2007). This region contains gene clusters of other Hessian fly resistance genes as well as Pm3 and Lr10. They should be very useful for pyramiding multiple disease resistances in breeding.

SSR markers Xgwm106 and Xgwm337 flank Dn4 (a resistance gene for RWA), on 1DS by 5.9 and 9.2 cM, respectively (Arzani *et al.* 2004). The red glum color gene Rg2 is also linked to Dn4. Using combinations of markers and the Rg2 gene can provide 100% accuracy and 75% efficiency in MAS to select homozygous Dn4 plants. Marker Xgwm437 is linked to Dn2 at 2.8 cM (Miller *et al.* 2001). Two SSR markers, Xgwm44 and Xgwm111, are linked to Dn6 on 7DS at 14.6 and 3 cM, respectively. Dn6 is allelic or tightly linked to Dn1, Dn2, and Dn5 (Liu *et al.* 2002). Dn7 was transferred from rye and it is the only one resistant to biotype 2. Marker Xrems1303.320 is very useful in MAS breeding (Lapitan *et al.* 2007). These markers are used in breeding programs either identifying or pyramiding these linked genes for RWA resistance.

SSR marker Xgwm301 is tightly associated with the cereal cyst nematode (*Heterodera avenae* Woll., CCN) resistance gene, *Cre3*, on 2DL. It has been used in MAS for selecting a nematode resistant wheat cultivar in Australia (Martin *et al.* 2004). Two new CCN resistance genes, *CreX* and *CreY*, were transferred from *Aeigilops variabilis* Accession No. 1 into wheat using MAS (Barloy *et al.* 2007). SSR markers linked to two QTL conditioning root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus neglectus*) resistances on 6DS and 2BS are used in breeding wheat cultivars of different genetic backgrounds (Zwart *et al.* 2006).

## MAS in maize

An STS marker converted from AFLP tightly linked to the *rhm* gene for southern corn leaf blight (caused by *Bipolaris maydis*) resistance is useful in MAS or for map-based cloning of this gene (Cai *et al.* 2003).

Flint-Garcia *et al.* (2003) compared phenotypic selection and MAS for stalk strength and 2nd generation of European corn borer (2-ECB) [*Ostrinia mubilalis* (Hubner)] resistance and demonstrated that MAS could be an effective tool to select for stalk strength and 2-ECB resistance. Cardinal *et al.* (2006) mapped the QTL for leaf-feeding by ECB. If only interactions between QTL with significant main effects are tested, important epistatic interactions will be missed. They concluded that MAS will be most efficient for this trait when main effects and interaction effects of QTL are included in the selection.

A marker linked to QTL resistance to southwestern corn borer (*Diatraea grandiosella*) from maize line CML139 were incorporated into MAS breeding (Khairallah *et al.* 1998). Scientists at the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre (CIMMYT) applied MAS to select stem borer [*Scirpophaga incertulas* (Walker)] resistance and pyramid *Bacillus thuringiensis* (*Bt*) resistance genes into breeding populations to increase the durability of maize resistance to these pests (Bergvinson and Hoisington 2001).

Maysin and related compounds are plant produced antibiotic compounds against corn earworm (*Helicoverpa zea*). Markers linked to QTL *p1* on chromosome 1S and a novel QTL at the interval of csu1066-umc176 on chromosome 2C-2L, together with markers linked to husk tightness, can be used in MAS breeding (Butron et al. 2001).

George *et al.* (2003) identified SSR markers linked to a major QTL on chromosome 6 from Ki3 conditioning resistance to downy mildew (caused by *Peronosclerospora* spp.), which is stable across environments of four countries in Asia. They used these markers in MAS.

Markers linked to major QTL for silk and kernel resistance to Gibberella ear rot (caused by *Fusarium* spp.) detected in more than one experiment in maize line CO387 can be used in MAS for these traits (Ali *et al.* 2005).

#### MAS in rice

Resistances to bacterial blight (caused by *Xanthomonas* oryzae pv. oryzae) and rice blast (caused by *Pyricularia* grisea) have been intensively studied in rice. Since rice is a model cereal crop, its molecular genetic studies and the application of available knowledge may provide some useful insights to other cereal crops.

There are 21 dominant and 9 recessive genes for bacterial blight resistance in rice. Among them, four dominant and two recessive genes have been used in practical MAS breeding. A single major gene, Xa21, with broad spectrum resistance, is very effective. Through MAS, it has been introduced into a rice hybrid restorer line in China, 'Minghui 63' (Chen *et al.* 2000) and a photoperiod-sensitive genetic male sterile line, '3418S' (Luo *et al.* 2003) and other hybrids (Cao *et al.* 2003). An EST marker linked to Xa23 and markers linked to Xa29(t) were identified and are being used in MAS for blight resistance (Tan *et al.* 2004; Wang CL *et al.* 2005).

Combinations of several dominant and recessive genes have given a high level of resistance. MAS has been used to pyramid resistance genes into rice hybrids or restorer lines in the following combinations: two genes, *xa13* and *Xa21* (Joseph *et al.* 2004), *Xa4* and *Xa21* (Deng QM *et al.* 2006), or *Xa7* and *Xa21* (Zhang *et al.* 2006); three genes, *xa5*, *xa13* and *Xa21* (Sanchez *et al.* 2000; Singh *et al.* 2001); four genes, *Xa4*, *xa5*, *xa13*, and *Xa21* (Huang *et al.* 2001); four genes, *Xa4*, *xa5*, *xa13*, and *Xa21* (Huang *et al.* 1997) or *Xa4*, *xa5*, *Xa7* and *Xa21* (Phan *et al.* 2005). It is very difficult to pyramid multiple genes in conventional breeding because they can mask the effects of each other. Furthermore, functional markers were designed from *xa5* to facilitate the MAS for this recessive gene (Iyer-Pascuzzi and McCouch 2007).

Phenotypic screening results also verified the successful pyramiding of genes using MAS. AFLP detected 80.4% to 86.7% recurrent parent alleles in BC<sub>1</sub>F<sub>3</sub> for the gene transfers of *xa13* and *Xa21* in line IRBB55 (Joseph *et al.* 2004). The EST marker C189 linked to *Xa23* gave 100% efficiency (Wang CL *et al.* 2005). In another case, an F<sub>3</sub> line test found that MAS reached an efficiency larger than 90% to identify homozygous resistant plants for *Xa4*, *xa5*, *Xa7* and *Xa21* (Phan *et al.* 2005). Chu *et al.* (2006) used map-based cloning to fine map the *xa13* to 14.8 kb region. Newly designed tightly linked markers may improve the efficiency of MAS for *xa13* in breeding.

Xa21 and a fused Bt gene cry1Ab/cry1Ac were introduced into cytoplasm male sterile (CMS) restorer line 'Minghui 63' using MAS (Jiang *et al.* 2004). This will improve both disease and pest resistances.

Rice blast is a serious disease of rice, especially Japonica type. There are many blast resistance genes deployed in rice breeding. Several single dominant genes have been used or are being used in MAS including *Pi-1* (linked with marker MRG4766 at 1.3 cM, Chen ZW *et al.* 2005), *Pi-k*<sup>th</sup> (linked to marker S-129.700 at 2.1 cM, Sharma *et al.* 2005), *Pi-2(t)* (Hittalmani *et al.* 1995), *Pi-5(t)* (linked to JJ80-T3, Yi *et al.* 2004), *Pi-b* and *Pi-k* (co-segregates with RM208 and RM224, Fjellstrom *et al.* 2004), *Pi-z* (linked to MRG5836, Conaway-Bormans *et al.* 2003), and *Pigm(t)*, *Pi2, Pi9* (linked to C5483 and C0428, Deng *et al.* 2006) as well as *Pi-ta* (linked to YL155/YL87, Wang *et al.* 2007). Marker-based prediction for resistant plants can reach 95-98% (Hittalmani *et al.* 1995; Chen ZW *et al.* 2005). Liu SP *et al.* (2003) transferred *Pi-1* into an elite hybrid maintainer line, Zhenshan 97, using flanking markers.

Pyramiding several blast resistance genes through MAS has been used in rice breeding. Pigm(t) on chromosome 6 may be either allelic or tightly linked to Pi2 and Pi9. Pi26(t) was also mapped at that region (Deng Y et al. 2006). Fjellstrom et al. (2004) suggested that MAS can be used to pyramid Pi-b, Pi-k, and Pi-ta2 into new rice cultivars and elite lines. Another set of three major genes including *Pi-1*, Pi-z5, and Pi-ta, was transferred into agronomically superior rice cultivars using MAS (Hittalmani et al. 2000). Recently, SNP and InDel markers co-segregating with 9 rice blast resistance genes including Piz, Piz-t, Pit, Pik, Pik-m, Pik-p, Pi-ta, Pi-ta2 and Pib were identified (Hayashi et al. 2004, 2006). Wang Z et al. (2007) demonstrated that markers from a resistant/susceptible *Pi-ta* hapolytes are useful in MAS. These markers should be useful in developing cultivars with one or several genes.

Genes for rice blast and bacterial blight resistances were also pyramided. Two major genes (Piz-5 + Xa21) and three genes (Pi-1 + Pi-5 + Xa21) were stacked into plants using MAS and transformation in rice (Narayanan *et al.* 2002, 2004).

Leaf hoppers [Nephotettix cincticeps (Uhler)] and plant hoppers [BPH, Nilaparvata lugens (Stal)] are very serious problems in rice. SSR markers, RM3754 and RM3761, linked to the green rice leafhopper resistance gene, Grh5, are useful in breeding to improve the resistance to this insect (Fujita et al. 2006). Five genes conditioning brown plant-hopper have been used in MAS breeding. Using SSR markers, RM7102 and RM463, linked to bph2 in MAS, the selection efficiencies are 89.9% and 91.2%, respectively (Sun et al. 2006). The other four genes are: Bph9 (linked to SSR markers RM463 and RM5341) on chromosome 12 (Su et al. 2006), Qbph11 (flanked by markers XNpb202 and C1172) for BPH resistance in 'DV85' (Su et al. 2005), Bph13(t) (linked by AJ09230(b) on chromosome 3 (Renganayaki et al. 2002), and Bph17 (flanked by RM8213 and RM5953) (Sun et al. 2005).

#### MAS in soybean

MAS has been used in soybean breeding for resistances to soybean cyst nematode (SCN, *Heterodera glycines* Inchinoe), soybean mosaic virus (SMV), leaf spot (*Cercospora sojina* Hara), sudden death syndrome [SDS, caused by *Fusarium solani* (Mart.)] as well as root and stem rot (caused by *Phytophthora sojae*) diseases.

SCN is the most economically significant soybean pest. Conventional breeding for SCN resistant cultivars is difficult and expensive. Mudge et al. (1997) identified two SSR markers, Satt038 and Satt130, flanking the SCN resistance on linkage group (LG) G. They can be used in MAS to efficiently identify plants with SCN resistance. Subsequently, SSR marker, Satt309, was identified 0.4 cM from the rhg1 locus conferring SCN resistance. It can be used to distinguish most of SCN-susceptible genotypes from those rhg1 carriers derived from resistant sources 'Peking', PI 437654, and PI 90763. A different marker, Sat168, can be used for MAS in breeding populations involving typical southern US cultivars crossed with PI 88788 and PI 209332 (Cregan et al. 1999b). Ferdous et al. (2006) identified a major QTL (rhg-t1) from the Japanese cultivar Toyomusume and con-cluded that the combination of rhg1 on LG G and rhg-t1 on LG B1 provides a high level resistance to SCN race 3. In total, over 60 markers associated with SCN resistance QTL have been identified (Concibido et al. 2004)

For SMV, *Rsv3* gene confers resistance to three of the most virulent strains of SMV. PCR markers were designed to pyramid it with other disease resistance genes (Jeong *et al.* 2002). SNPs linked to *Rsv1* and *Rsv3* were designed using allele-specific PCR to facilitate the MAS for these two genes (Jeong and Maroof 2004). *Rsv4*, which confers resistance to all known strain groups of SMV, is flanked by the SSR markers, Satt542 at 4.7cM and Satt558 at 7.8cM on

LG D1b, greatly facilitating breeding for this resistance (Hayes *et al.* 2000). Hwang *et al.* (2006) used comparative genomics and developed EST markers AW471852R which is 2.4 cM away from *Rsv4* gene and Satt634 which is 2.2 cM from the other side. These tightly linked markers are being used in MAS breeding.

Resistance gene, *Rcs3*, provides resistance to all known races of *Cercospora sojina* Hara, which causes frogeye leaf spot on soybean. The linked markers offer the opportunity for breeders to use MAS in the development of resistant cultivars (Mian *et al.* 1999).

Field trials to select SDS-resistant cultivars are expensive and time-consuming. MAS selection for loci of SDS resistance from Forrest is well established. SSR markers linked to SDS resistance from Minsoy were identified to combine different resistance QTL (Njiti *et al.* 2006).

Root and stem rot is caused by *Phytophthora sojae*. A series of *Rps* genes have been identified and *Rps8* confers resistance to most *P. sojae* isolates. *Rps8* and *Rps3* were mapped to the gene-rich region on LG F (Sandhu *et al.* 2005). MAS using Satt431 for brown stem rot (caused by *Phialophora gregata* f. sp. *sojae*) resistance gene *Rbs1* and Satt244 for *Rbs2* can predict 88 and 82% of the phenotypes, respectively (Tamulonis *et al.* 2001).

Soybean rust, caused by *Phakopsora pachyrhizi*, has the potential to be one of the major diseases. Markers Barc\_Sct\_187 and Barc\_Sat\_064 are linked to one resistant gene *Rpp1* from line PI 200492, which can be used in MAS (Hyten *et al.* 2007).

Marker Satt435 and Satt463 on LG M are flanking soybean aphid (*Aphis glycines Matsumurd*) resistance gene *Rag1* from Dowling and resistance gene from Jackson (Li *et al.* 2007).

Pyramiding resistance to insects was also conducted. Walker *et al.* (2004) found that introgression of a *Bt* transgene cry1Ac and the PI 229358 allele at a QTL using MAS makes soybean lines more resistant.

#### MAS in common bean

Marker-assisted selection has been used in common bean for bacterial, virus, and fungal disease resistances (Kelly et al. 2003; Liu et al. 2005b; Miklas et al. 2006a). For common bacterial blight (caused by Xanthomonas campestris pv. *phaseoli*) resistances, several SCAR markers have been found linked to resistance QTL from different sources: UBC420 linked to the QTL on chromosome 1 with resistant alleles from XAN 159; SU91 linked to the QTL on chromosome 3 from the same source; SAP6 linked to QTL on chromosome 8 with resistance from great northern Nebraska No. 1 Sel. 27 (Jung *et al.* 1997; Yu *et al.* 2000a; Miklas *et al.* 2000a; Pedrosa *et al.* 2003). These markers have been used in practical breeding to pyramid CBB resistances. Pinto and red kidney beans with both SAP6 and SU91 linked QTL through MAS are available (Mutlu et al. 2005; Miklas et al. 2006b). More tightly linked markers to the CBB resistance QTL on chromosome 1 of XAN 159 have been designed and validated to be useful in different genetic backgrounds for MAS of this QTL (Liu et al. 2007b).

SW13 is linked to the *I* gene for resistance to *Bean common mosaic virus* (BCMV) and has proved very reliable in different genetic backgrounds (Melotto *et al.* 1996; Miklas *et al.* 2006a). SCAR marker SBD5.1300 tightly linked to  $bc-1^2$ , which confers resistance to specific strains of BCMV and bean common mosaic necrosis virus (BCMNV). However, its resistance is masked by  $bc-2^2$  and bc-3 (Miklas *et al.* 2000b). Therefore, the marker should be useful in MAS breeding. A recessive gene, bgm-1, confers bean gold mosaic virus resistance. Its tightly linked marker SR2 is also close to bc-1 (Blair *et al.* 2007). The linkage between two loci may facilitate the MAS of them.

Breeding for anthracnose (caused by *Colletotrichum linemuthianum*) resistance from different sources using MAS to combine different genes (*Co-1* to *Co-10*) conferring resistance to various predominant races based on geo-

graphic regions is practical and realistic (Balardin and Kelly 1998). SAS13 is linked to the  $Co-4^2$  gene which has the broadest resistance to fungal races (Melotto and Kelly 2001). However, application in MAS using this marker is not very consistent and reliable (Liu S *et al.* 2005b; Miklas *et al.* 2006a).

Pyramiding different resistance genes or QTL with different disease resistances is very common. Integration of UBC420 linked QTL for CBB resistance, SW13 linked I gene for BCMV resistance, and SAS13 linked to  $Co-4^2$  gene for anthracnose resistance to breed bean varieties with multiple disease resistances in several market classes including navy, black, pinto, red kidney and cranberry beans is underway (Park and Yu 2004; Liu S *et al.* 2005b, 2006).

In white mold resistance breeding, marker-assisted backcrossing successfully transferred a B<sub>7</sub> QTL from G122 and a B<sub>8</sub> QTL from NY6020-4 into susceptible pinto bean (Miklas and Bosak 2006c). Ender *et al.* (2007) applied markers linked QTL for resistance to white mold from Bunsi to enhance the selection of resistance in breeding. MAS in bean breeding for different disease resistances have been reviewed by Kelly *et al.* (2003) and Miklas *et al.* (2006a) in detail.

# MAS FOR RESISTANCE TO ABIOTIC STRESSES

# MAS for drought tolerance

Abiotic stress resistance is more complex and subject to large environmental effects. It is controlled by multiple genes/QTL with quantitative inheritance and may involve multiple resistance or tolerance mechanisms (Miklas *et al.* 2006a). This makes it hard to study both physiologically and genetically.

In wheat, breeding drought tolerance has been focused on improving crop water use efficiency, rapid early leaf area development and high osmotic adjustment (Quarrie *et al.* 1999). Kirigwi *et al.* (2007) identified one OTL on 4AL where tolerant alleles come from 'Dharwar Dry'. Marker Xwmc89 is associated with all QTL for grain yield, grain fill rate, spike density, biomass production, drought susceptibility index (DSI) and explained 20-40% phenotypic variations of these traits. However, potential markers linked to these traits need to be evaluated for MAS.

Drought is the second most severe limitation to maize production after soil fertility. Four QTL were found for common anthesis-silking interval (ASI), male flowering and female flowering under water-stress conditions (Ribaut et al. 1996). MAS to improve yield under drought should combine important traits like ASI, yield components, or other traits significantly correlated with yield (Ribaut et al. 1997). Frova et al. (1998) identified markers linked to QTL associated with cell membrane stability in maize under water stress and high temperature. Markers linked to QTL associated with vertical root pulling resistance in maize were identified and may be useful to improve root strength and yield under water stress (Landi et al. 2002). Under drought conditions, an MAS strategy for yield improvement can be established by combining QTL associated with decreased ASI and increased ear setting percentage and grain yield (Li XH et al. 2003). Marker-assisted backcross (MABC) selection has been used to improve yield under drought conditions by selecting fewer genotypes (10-20 each cycle) and fewer generations (Ribaut et al. 2007).

Babu *et al.* (2003) identified two QTL on chromosome 4 and 9 for drought tolerance in rice. They also had pleiotropic effects on yield. Linked markers can be useful in MAS for these traits. Boopathi *et al.* (2003) developed a SCAR marker linked to root thickness for rice drought tolerance screening. Moreover, root traits were studied in upland and lowland environments (Li *et al.* 2005). Basal root thickness is significantly correlated with the index of drought resistance. Markers linked to QTL for deep root and root thickness in rice create the potential for MAS to select these traits in rainfed lowlands (Kamoshita *et al.*  2002). Using 38 rice accessions from diverse genetic backgrounds, markers RM223 and RM263 co-segregated in all individuals in the drought tolerance bulk so they may be useful in MAS for improvement of rainfed rice (Kumar *et al.* 2005). MAS can be used to introduce QTL for tolerance to submergence and drought into cultivars with a broad range of adaptation or in a specific region for rice (Mackill *et al.* 1999). Co-localized QTL for different traits will facilitate MAS for them in rice breeding.

MAS for drought tolerance has been used in common bean breeding programs to combine alleles from races Durango and Mesoamerica (Schneider *et al.* 1997a). Using MAS to improve drought tolerance in common bean showed that the effectiveness of MAS is inversely proportional to the heritability (Schneider *et al.* 1997b).

# Lodging resistance

QTL associated with lodging resistance in wheat were detected (Keller *et al.* 1999). Based on the correlations among phenotypic traits, they suggest that indirect selection of plant height and culm stiffness combined with two QTL for lodging resistance is the most efficient way to improve lodging resistance. Hai *et al.* (2005) identified markers linked to QTL for stem strength, stem diameter, and culm wall thickness and suggested using them as an index in MAS to improve lodging resistance in wheat.

Perfect markers linked to two dwarfing genes *Rht-B1b* and *Rht-D1b* were identified for MAS of these genes in wheat (Ellis *et al.* 2002). SSR markers linked to other wheat height-reducing genes, *Rh4* on 2BL, *Rh5* on chromosome 3BS, *Rht9* on 2DS, *Rht9* on 5AL, *Rht12* on 5AL, *Rht13* on 7BS, were also identified for MAS to breed cultivars with reduced heights.

## **Cold tolerance**

RAPD marker OPT8.511 was confirmed to have a strong association with cold tolerance of rice. It is linked in repulsion to the cold tolerance from japonica cultivar 'Toyohata-mochi' (Kim *et al.* 2000). SSR marker RM202 is closely linked to a QTL (Qsct-11) for cold tolerance from rice line 'Lemont' and is used in MAS breeding (Chen W *et al.* 2005).

## MAS FOR IMPROVEMENT OF OTHER TRAITS

## High protein and other nutrition improvement

Wheat grain protein content (GPC) is a major end-use quality in wheat. Zhang *et al.* (2003) reported that they transferred *HWM-GS* 5 + 10 subunit into wheat cultivars with different maturities and quality types combining backcrosses with biochemical marker-assisted selection. Markers linked to QTL conditioning grain texture and protein quantity were used in MAS for these traits (Turner *et al.* 2004). Kuchel *et al.* (2006) identified QTL associated with dough strength on chromosome 2A and 3A, loaf volume on 2A and 3A, protein content on 6A. The linked markers can be used in MAS to improve bread-making quality. Marker Xgwm312 is linked to lower polyphenol oxidase activity on 2AL and MAS for this trait in breeding is promising (Watanabe *et al.* 2006).

QTL associated with carotenoid accumulation in maize kernels were mapped to the regions with candidate genes, *yellow 1* and *viviparous 9*. The linked markers could be used in an efficient MAS to increase levels of carotenoids in maize grain (Wong *et al.* 2004). High lysine in maize was controlled by both *o2* and *o16* genes. The double recessive mutants have 30% more lysine than maize with just one mutation (Yang *et al.* 2005).

Tightly linked markers could greatly reduce breeding time and effort depending on phenotypic measurement. Markers SSR2-004 and RM1358 linked to low glutelin content can provide 96.8% and 92.7% efficiency in rice MAS breeding (Wang YH et al. 2005).

QTL associated with rice protein content and rice fat content were identified (Hu *et al.* 2004) and have the potential to be applied in MAS. The major QTL, *qRPC-5*, is at the interval of RG435-RG172a while *qRFC-2* and *qRFC-5* are linked by marker intervals RG241b-RG324 and RG470-RG474, respectively. These two traits are negatively correlated. The PCR-Acc I marker can be used to lower the amylase content through backcrossing and MAS in rice (Zhang SL *et al.* 2005).

QTL associated with protein, oil and seed size were mapped using RILs from the cross Essex/Williams in soybean. MAS can help breeders to retain these QTL and pyramid additional QTL from new germplasm (Hyten *et al.* 2004a). Glycinin (11S) and beta-conglycinin (7S) are important seed storage proteins in soybean. Markers linked to both subunits were identified and can be used in MAS to improve the nutritional quality of soybean (Panthee *et al.* 2004). QTL associated with isoflavones in soybean seeds were identified and linked markers are useful to develop soybean varieties with desirable isoflavone content through MAS (Primomo *et al.* 2005). Yu *et al.* (2005) studied the G4 glycinin subunit using base excision sequence scanning and discussed the design of SNPs for MAS of a recessive null allele.

Altering fatty acid (FA) content in soybean oil is of interest to breeders. One marker interval on LG L linked to QTL for palmitic, oleic, linoleic, and linolenic acids with  $R^2$ from 13 to 50%. MAS can help breeders to increase the genetic gains for desirable FA composition of soybean (Hyten et al. 2004b). Spencer et al. (2004) identified SSR markers, Satt534 and Satt560, which are linked to QTL on LG B<sub>2</sub> for decreased linolenic (18:3) acid. These markers can be used in MAS for low-18:3 soybean genotypes. Marker GmFATBla, linked to locus *fap*, accounted for more than 60% of phenotypic variation in palmitate content and was designed from cDNA (Cadinal et al. 2007), which should be benefit to MAS. Genetic manipulation of balanced amino-acid and carbohydrate composition through genomics will enhance the nutritional value of legume crops (Babu et al. 2004). Tocopherols are major lipophilic antioxidants in soybean. Markers Sat\_243 and Sat\_167 were significantly associated with  $\alpha$ -tocopherol concentration and can be used in MAS (Dwiyanti et al. 2007).

#### Plant nutrition and other traits

In soybean breeding for resistance to iron-deficiency chlorosis (IDC), conventional approaches were used but not effective. Many IDC-resistant cultivars have lower yield and the environmental effects are large. SSR marker Satt481 is associated with IDC resistance across environments. MAS should increase breeding efficiency (Charlson *et al.* 2005). Salt tolerance was studied using 'S-100' which is one of major ancestors of soybean cultivars in southern USA. Markers Sat\_091 and Satt237 were always associated with salt tolerance in descendent cultivars of S-100, indicating its usefulness in MAS in commercial soybean breeding (Lee GJ *et al.* 2004).

Markers linked to ferrous iron toxicity can be used in MAS for rice cultivars (Wan *et al.* 2003). Salinity is compounded by mineral deficiencies (Zn, P) and toxicities (Al), submergence and drought. Gregorio *et al.* (2002) identified markers linked to QTL for elongating ability under these stresses. MAS may help the selection for tolerance to these traits in rice. QTL associated with aluminum tolerance in Atlas66 were mapped on 4D and 3BL (Zhou *et al.* 2007). The associated markers can be used in MAS for this trait.

Male sterility is very important in the development of hybrid cultivars in rice. Markers linked to thermo-sensitive genetic male-sterile (TGMS) genes, rtms1 and tms3(t), can be used in MAS to select TGMS plants at seedling stage of rice (Jia *et al.* 2001; Lang *et al.* 1999).

Identification of QTL and application of MAS in rice breeding for seed dormancy, heading date and yield-related traits were also summarized in the following. Seed dormancy is associated with pre-harvesting sprouting resistance in rice. Wan *et al.* (2006) identified markers linked to qSdn-1 on chromosome 1 across different populations and they may be useful in MAS for this trait. Guo *et al.* (2004) identified markers linked to seed dormancy QTL on chromosome 3 which has been found in different genetic backgrounds in rice. qSV-7 has the largest main effects and its linked marker can be used in MAS for seed vigor of rice (Zhang ZH *et al.* 2005).

MAS was used to develop near-isogenic lines (NILs) containing QTL controlling heading date, *Hd1*, *Hd2*, *Hd3*, *Hd4*, *Hd5*, *Hd6*, *Hd7*, *Hd9* in rice (Lin *et al.* 2000; Yama-moto *et al.* 2000; Lin *et al.* 2002, 2003). SSR markers have also been identified for the maturity genes E1, E3, E4 and E7 in soybean (Molnar *et al.* 2003) to facilitate conversion of later maturity group lines to earlier maturing lines.

In order to breed for rice heterosis, Liu and Wu (1998) suggested assembling favorable alleles and removing unfavorable alleles from the parental lines. Both indica/indica and indica/japonica hybrids can be improved by use of MAS. Markers linked to panicle number per plant and spikelet number per panicle are useful in MAS for highyield panicle type (Luo and Li 2001). Li et al. (1998) suggested that the important QTL affecting the source leaves can be manipulated through MAS to increase sink capacity to improve yield in rice. In bread wheat, mapping of QTL for yield and seven yield contributing traits in two populations showed that QTL for spikelets per spike was common between two populations. HomeoQTL were detected. Six QTLs were identified pleiotropically or coincidentally for more than one trait and consistent over environments. Markers associated with these traits will be efficient in MAS (Kumar et al 2007).

#### PROS AND CONS OF MAS

#### Advantages of MAS

Co-location of QTL and genes conferring different disease resistances have been found in common bean and other crops (Kelly *et al.* 2003; Miklas *et al.* 2006a). This may result in one marker linked to several target traits, which will be very efficient in MAS. MAS can also help retain the available resistance and incorporate new sources of resistance. MAS may improve mass selection and increase efficiency through progeny testing and decreasing the number of replications and increasing selection intensity (Gallais and Charcosset 1994).

Tuvesson *et al.* (2006) studied the application of MAS in European plant breeding and pointed out that MAS is very useful to monitor the gene transfer and the genetic background. Simple and rapid DNA extraction methods are needed for MAS to be used broadly. For example, a protocol to extract DNA from seeds was developed to simplify the MAS application in soybean (Bolton *et al.* 2005).

Single large-scale marker-assisted selection (SLS-MAS) can be used to select plants at early generations with a fixed and favorable genetic background at specific loci while segregation at other loci is maintained (Ribaut and Betrán 1999). It is very useful in maize to combine conventional breeding and markers. Edwards and Page (1994) compared MAS and phenotypic recurrent selection (PRS) and concluded that MAS can provide rapid gain for the first 2-3 generations of recurrent selection in maize. Enrichment of frequency of desirable traits in  $F_2$  or BCF<sub>1</sub> through MAS can reduce the minimum required population size and sequential culling can be used to decrease marker screening cost (Wang JK et al 2007). Liu PY et al. (2006) studied the effects of genotype x environment (GE) interactions on genetic response to MAS. It is more efficient than phenotypic selection (PS) when GE interactions exist. For QTL confirmed in multiple environments, MAS gave higher general response.

Knapp (1998) compared phenotypic selection (PS) and

MAS, and found that the breeder must test up to 17 times more progenies using PS than using MAS to ensure obtaining at least one superior genotype. When the heritability of a trait is low to intermediate and the selection intensity is high, MAS is beneficial in accomplishing a selection goal. Through simulation, van Berloo and Stam (1998) found that MAS is promising when dominant alleles at QTL are present and linked in coupling phase.

For bean common mosaic virus resistance, a marker linked to the *I* gene (Melotto *et al.* 1996) has been proved as a breeder-friendly marker in MAS across a wide genetic background in both gene pools in many laboratories (Miklas *et al.* 2006a). Tar'an *et al.* (2003) applied MAS for complex traits in bean, like yield, using a QTL-based index and showed that it can help breeders to select lines with important QTL in a desirable genetic background. Zhang YM *et al.* (2005) mapped QTL based on pedigree information, trait value and marker information. The MAS procedure, implemented via best linear unbiased predictors (BLUP), may be routinely used by breeders to select superior lines and line combinations.

#### **Considerations in use of MAS**

Verification of putative QTL and its magnitude of effects and accurate map chromosome location are very important to realize the potentials of MAS (Liu PY *et al.* 2003). Some markers linked to disease resistances in bean are only useful in one gene pool. Those markers will have limited usefulness (Miklas *et al.* 2006a). For example, a SCAR marker tightly linked to resistance to angular leaf spot [*Phaeoisariopsis griseola* (Sacc.) Ferraris] can only be used in MAS for introgression in Andean backgrounds (Mahuku *et al.* 2004).

Marker-assisted selection requires polymorphisms in the parents. This can limit its usefulness in populations from relatively narrow genetic backgrounds, from which most conventional breeding populations are generally derived. On the other hand, phenotypic selection tries to combine different sources of disease resistances or other traits of interest. Therefore, breeders have to evaluate the advantages and limitations when applying MAS in breeding. It depends on the target traits, genetic backgrounds, and environmental effects (Miklas *et al.* 2006a).

For some traits phenotypic selection is more efficient than MAS. Bohn *et al.* (2001) concluded that MAS using only marker information is less efficient than conventional phenotypic selection for maize stem borer resistance unless QTL have larger effects or the cost of marker assays is considerably reduced (Yu *et al.* 2000a). Due to the low consistency of QTL across populations, MAS is not recommended to improve ECB resistance in early maturing dent germplasm (Papst *et al.* 2001; Jampatong *et al.* 2002).

The efficiency of MAS is affected by the number of loci, sample size, genetic parameters and the selection schemes (Thompson 1990). MAS is inferior to phenotypic selection in most of the selection schemes when the cost ratio (r) of obtaining measurements on phenotypic characters to scoring marker loci is less than one and the heritability is greater than 0.3 (Xie and Xu 1998). The optimal heritability for MAS of a trait is 0.2. For traits with heritability lower than this, the efficiency of MAS is reduced (Moreau et al. 1998). Simulation of the efficiency of MAS showed that the response to MAS is more variable than the response to phenotypic selection. The higher efficiency of MAS on QTL with large effects in early generations is balanced by a higher rate of fixation of unfavorable alleles of QTL with smaller effects in later generations (Hospital et al. 1997). Frisch and Melchinger (2001) studied the number of marker data points required to recover the recurrent parent genome when two genes were simultaneously introduced. Application of three or four selection steps, large population size starting from early generation, and merging target genes in early generation will improve the efficiency of MAS.

Gimelfarb and Lande (1995) noted that markers used for selection are not necessarily the most tightly linked to the QTL controlling the trait. The additive effects of the markers estimated by the regression may not accurately reflect the contributions of the most tightly linked markers. MAS for complex traits was limited due to the inability to detect and quantify marker-trait relationships, especially for the gene-by-gene and gene-by-environment effects (Podlich *et al.* 2004). Breeders should be very cautious when using QTL detected from only one environment (Liu PY *et al.* 2006).

# Advantages of combination of MAS and phenotypic selection

MAS for disease resistance should be verified by disease inoculation to ensure that the resistance is being transferred (Miklas *et al.* 2006a). The most effective breeding strategy to improve bean CBB resistance combines MAS and periodic phenotypic selection. Phenotypic selection is needed to retain minor QTL and to select epistatic interactions that contribute to improved disease resistance (Miklas et al. 2006a). Davies et al. (2006) compared the MAS and phenotypic selection for high grain protein content. Phenotypic selection is more effective in some environments because it can select both major and minor QTL (Miklas et al. 2006a). However, MAS has more advantages to help in transferring the high GPC QTL through backcrossing. A selection index including both molecular marker information and phenotypic values with suitable weights is the best selection strategy (Sala et al. 2006). Liu et al. (2004) studied the efficiency of MAS in breeding selfed crops. They proposed an index to select superior genotypes and suggested that combination of MAS in early generations with phenotypic selection in later generations would be most efficient. In wheat breeding in Australia, MAS, phenotype and pedigree information was integrated to improve the efficiency of selection and increase the rate of genetic gain (Christopher et al. 2007).

Dreher *et al.* (2002) from CIYYMT used *opaque2* controlling maize protein as a case to study the cost-effectiveness of MAS. They concluded that in those cases where phenotypic screening is expensive and difficult, including breeding for multiple genes, recessive genes, traits associated with adult plants, and traits with seasonal or geographical limitations, MAS has advantages. However, conventional breeding can be cost-effective for those traits which depend on visual selections. Kuchel *et al.* (2005) simulated the processes of applying MAS in a BC<sub>1</sub>F<sub>1</sub> population, gene selection in haploid and selection for recurrent background. Incorporation of MAS in the first two stages increased genetic gain and reduced the overall cost by 40% compared with phenotypic selection.

Hoeck *et al.* (2003) studied the QTL associated with seed size of soybean and concluded that phenotypic selection was effective and less expensive than MAS.

Inconsistent QTL across environment was due to weak expression of QTL, and to significant QTL  $\times$  environment interaction effects in the opposite direction to QTL main effects. In application of MAS for quantitative traits, QTL  $\times$  environment interaction effects must be considered (Li ZK *et al.* 2003).

# **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

MAS depends on several important factors, including the number of target genes to be selected, the genetic distances between the markers and the target genes, the number of genotypes selected in each generation, and the genetic background in which the target gene is transferred (Babu *et al.* 2004; Francia *et al.* 2005). The continuous development of marker technologies and improved genetic understanding of complex traits, relations among traits and between target trait and environments will make MAS breeding more broadly-usful and efficient, as well as cost-effective. Koebner and Summers (2003) predicted that when SNP technology is sufficiently developed to facilitate marker-based

genotyping of the number of plants that breeders handle routinely in the field, it will profoundly change breeding strategies. SNP markers will show the power and efficiency of MAS in plant breeding. It promises the high throughput assay and multiplexing that will decrease the cost for selection of multiple traits in crop breeding (Dubcovsky 2004). For complex traits like yield and abiotic stress, however, several constraints limit the efficiency of MAS in plant breeding (Francia *et al.* 2005).

Current QTL analyses depend on populations developed from two inbred lines. The detected QTL only represent a small part of the genetic architecture of the trait. However, the general breeding population is pedigree derived and remains unexploited. Crepieux *et al.* (2004) developed a framework which is based on two-step identity-based-descendant (IBD) variance component and applicable to any type of breeding population from inbred parents. The consideration of relatedness between parents improved the power and accuracy of the QTL analyses.

More perfect markers associated with important agronomic traits will be developed for MAS. In wheat, gene cloning has led to the development of perfect markers based on allelic variation responsible for the differences in the traits (Dubcovsky 2004). These traits include glutenin genes, waxy genes, vernalization genes, *Rht* genes for plant height and leaf rust resistance genes Lr10 and Lr21.

One major area of future plant breeding will focus on improving the nutrition, and enriching antioxidants for human health using functional and nutritional genomics (Datta 2000). In this phase, MAS will be a useful tool in selection.

The application of knowledge from model crops to other crops or orphan crops less studied may be effective in the following areas: 1) analyses of crop diversities and identification of useful alleles; 2) specific allele integration using MAS; 3) cloning and transfer of desirable alleles among taxa (Nelson *et al.* 2004). Comparative studies can use both similarities and differences to accelerate the studies of orphan crops.

With the advanced technology and information available, the competition will be on the speed to incorporate these technologies into crop breeding programs (Dubcovsky 2004). As breeders and molecular geneticists, we are very glad to see the great progress that has been and will be made combining conventional breeding with available molecular technologies.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the funding support from the Improving Farming System Practice Initiative project of Agricultural Agri-Food Canada and the Ontario White and Coloured Bean Growers.

#### REFERENCES

- Abate ZA, Liu SY, Lu H, Musket T, Davis GL, McKendry AL (2007) Quantitative trait loci associated with deoxynivalenol and *Fusarium*-damaged kernel in a soft red winter wheat cultivar 'Ernie'. *Crop Science* in press
- Adhikari TB, Wallwork H, Goodwin SB (2004) Microsatellite markers linked to the *Stb2* and *Stb3* genes for resistance to *Septoria tritici* blotch in wheat. *Crop Science* 44, 1403-1411
- Ali ML, Taylor JH, Jie L, Sun G, William M, Kasha KJ, Reid LM, Pauls KP (2005) Molecular mapping of QTLs for resistance to gibberella ear rot, in corn, caused by *Fusarium graminearum. Genome* 48, 521-533
- Anderson JA, Stack RW, Liu S, Waldron BL, Fjeld AD, Coyne C, Moreno-Sevilla B, Fetch JM, Song QJ, Cregan PB, Frohberg RC (2001) DNA markers for Fusarium head blight resistance QTLs in two wheat populations. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 102, 1164-1168

Arzani A, Peng JH, Lapitan NLV (2004) DNA and morphological markers for a Russian wheat aphid resistance gene. *Euphytica* 139, 167-172

- Babu RC, Nguyen BD, Chamarerk V, Shanmugasundaram P, Chezhian P, Jeyaprakash P, Ganesh SK, Sadasivam S, Sarkarung S, Wade LJ, Nguyen HT (2003) Genetic analysis of drought resistance in rice by molecular markers: Association between secondary traits and field performance. *Crop Science* 43, 1457-1469
- Babu R, Nair SK, Gupta HS (2004) Pulse improvement through biotechnology: achievements and future perspectives. *AgBiotechNet* 6, 1-5

- Balardin RS, Kelly JD (1998) Interaction among races of *Colletotrichum linemuthianum* and diversity in *Phaseolus vulgaris*. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* **123**, 1038-1047
- Barloy D, Lemoine J, Abelard P, Tanguy AM, Rivoal R, Jahier J (2007) Marker-assisted pyramiding of two cereal cyst nematode resistance genes from *Aegilops Variabilis* in wheat. *Molecular Breeding* **20**, 31-40
- Bergvinson D, Hoisington D (2001) Options in developing stemborer-resistant maize: CIMMYT's approaches and experiences. *Insect Science and its Application* 21, 409-415
- Blair MW, Pedraza F, Buendia HF, Gaitan-Solis E, Beebe SE, Gepts P, Tohme J (2003) Development of a genome-wide anchored microsatellite map for common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 107, 1362-1374
- Blair MW, Rodriguez LM, Pedraza F, Morales F, Beebe S. (2007) Genetic mapping of the bean golden mosaic geminivirus resistance gene Bgm-1 and linkage with potyvirus resistance in common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 114, 261-271
- Bohn M, Groh S, Khairallah MM, Hoisington DA, Utz HF, Melchinger AE (2001) Re-evaluation of the prospects of marker-assisted selection for improving insect resistance against *Diatraea* spp. in tropical maize by cross validation and independent validation. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 103, 1059-1067
- Bolton MD, Nelson BD, Sparks RB, Santoso A (2005) Methods for extraction and amplification of DNA from soybean seed. Seed Technology 27, 89-94
- Boopathi NM, Babu RC, Chandirakala R, Mathews SC, Singh A, Chezhian P, Shanmugasundaram P (2003) Identification of SCAR marker linked to root thickness in rice (*Oryza sativa L.*). *Tropical Agricultural Research* 15, 61-67
- Botstein D, White RL, Skolnick M, Davis RW (1980) Construction of a genetic linkage map in man using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 32, 314-331
- Brooks SA, See DR, Brown-Guedira G (2006) SNP-based improvement of a microsatellite marker associated with Karnal bunt resistance in wheat. Crop Science 46, 1467-1470
- Butron A, Li RG, Guo BZ, Widstrom NW, Snook ME, Cleveland TE, Lynch RE (2001) Molecular markers to increase corn earworm resistance in a maize population. *Maydica* 46, 117-124
- Cai HW, Gao ZS, Yuyama N, Ogawa N (2003) Identification of AFLP markers closely linked to the *rhm* gene for resistance to southern corn leaf blight in maize by using bulked segregant analysis. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 269, 299-303
- Cao LY, Zhuang JY, Yuan SJ, Zhan XD, Zheng K, Cheng SH (2003) Hybrid rice resistant to bacterial leaf blight developed by marker-assisted selection. *Rice Science* 11, 68-70
- Cardinal AJ, Lee M, Guthrie WD, Bing J, Austin DF, Veldboom LR, Senior ML (2006) Mapping of factors for resistance to leaf-blade feeding by European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis*) in maize. *Maydica* 51, 93-102
- Cardinal AJ, Burton J, Camacho-Roger AM, Yang JH, Wilson RF, Dewey RE (2007) Molecular analysis of soybean lines with low palmitic acid content in seed oil. Crop Science 47, 304-310
- Charlson DV, Bailey; Cianzio SR, Shoemaker RC (2005) Molecular marker Satt481 is associated with iron deficiency chlorosis resistance in a soybean breeding population. *Crop Science* 45, 2394-2399
- Chen G, Chong J, Gray M, Prashar S, Procunier JD (2005) Identification of single-nucleotide polymorphisms linked to resistance gene Pc68 to crown rust in cultivated oat. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 28, 214-222
- Chen J, Griffey CA, Maroof MAS, Stromberg EL, Biyashev RM, Zhao W, Chappell MR, Pridgen TH, Dong Y, Zeng Z (2006) Validation of two major quantitative trait loci for fusarium head blight resistance in Chinese wheat line W14. *Plant Breeding* **125**, 99-101
- Chen S, Lin XH, Xu CG, Zhang QF (2000) Improvement of bacterial blight resistance of 'Minghui 63', an elite restorer line of hybrid rice, by molecular marker-assisted selection. *Crop Science* 40, 239-244
- Chen W, Li W (2005) Mapping of QTL conferring cold tolerance at the early seedling stage in rice by molecular markers. *Journal of Wuhan Botanical Research* 23, 116-120
- Chen YP, Wang H-Z, Cao A-Z, Wang C-M, Chen P-D (2006) Cloning of a resistance gene analog from wheat and development of a codominant PCR marker for *Pm21*. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology **48**, 715-721
- Chen XF, Faris JD, Hu JG, Stack RW, Adhikari T, Elias EM, Kianian SF, Cai XW (2007) Saturation and comparative mapping of a major fusarium head blight resistance QTL in tetraploid wheat. *Molecular Breeding* 19, 113-124
- Chen ZW, Guan HZ, Wu WR, Zhou YC, Han QD (2005) The screening of molecular markers closely linked to rice blast resistant gene *Pi-1* and their application. *Journal of Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University* 34, 74-77
- Christopher M, Mace E, Jordan D, Rodgers D, Mcgowan P, Delacy I, Banks P, Sheppard J, Butler D, Poulsen D (2007) Applications of pedigree-based genome mapping in wheat and barley breeding programs. *Euphytica* 154, 307-316
- Chu Z, Fu B, Yang H, Xu C, Li Z, Sanchez A, Park YJ, Bennetzen JL, Zhang Q, Wang S (2006) Targeting *xa13*, a recessive gene for bacterial blight resistance in rice. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **112**, 455-461

- Conaway-Bormans CA, Marchetti MA, Johnson CW, McClung AM, Park WD (2003) Molecular markers linked to the blast resistance gene *Pi-z* in rice for use in marker-assisted selection. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **107**, 1014-1020
- Concibido, VC, Diers BW, Arelli PR (2004) A decade of QTL mapping for cyst nematode resistance in soybean. *Crop Science* 44, 1121-1131
- Cregan PB, Jarvik T, Bush AL, Shoemaker RC, Lark KG, Kahler AL, Kaya N, Van Toai TT, Lohnes DG, Chung J, Specht JE (1999a) An integrated genetic linkage map of the soybean genome. *Crop Science* **39**, 1464-1491
- Cregan PB, Mudge J, Fickus EW, Danesh D, Denny R, Young ND (1999b) Two simple sequence repeat markers to select for soybean cyst nematode resistance conditioned by the *rhg1* locus. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 99, 811-818
- Creighton HB, McClintock B (1931) A correlation of cytological and genetical crossing-over in Zea Mays. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 17, 492-497
- Crepieux S, Lebreton C, Flament P, Charmet G (2004) Application of a new IBD-based QTL mapping method to common wheat breeding population: analysis of kernel hardness and dough strength. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **111**, 1409-1419
- Cuthbert PA, Somers DJ, Brule-Babel A (2007) Mapping of Fhb2 on chromosome 6bs: a gene controlling fusarium head blight field resistance in bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **114**, 429-437
- Datta SK (2000) Potential benefit of genetic engineering in plant breeding: Rice, a case study. Agricultural Chemistry and Biotechnology 43,197-206
- Davies J, Berzonsky W, Leach G (2006) A comparison of marker-assisted and phenotypic selection for high grain protein content in spring wheat. *Euphy-tica* **152**, 117-134
- Davis G, McMullen M, Baysdorfer C, Musket T, Grant D, Staebell MS, Xu G, Polacco M, Koster L, Melia-Hancock S (1999) A maize map standard with sequenced core markers, grass genome reference points and 932 expressed sequence tagged sites (ESTs) in a 1736-locus map. *Genetics* 152, 1137-1172
- Deng QM, Wang SQ, Zheng AP, Zhang HY, Li P (2006) Breeding rice restorer lines with high resistance to bacterial blight by using molecular markerassisted selection. *Rice Science* 13, 22-28
- Deng Y, Zhu X, Shen Y, He Z (2006) Genetic characterization and fine mapping of the blast resistance locus *Pigm(t)* tightly linked to *Pi2* and *Pi9* in a broad-spectrum resistant Chinese variety *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 113, 705-713
- Dreher K, Morris M, Khairallah M, Ribaut J-M, Pandey S, Srinivasan G (2002) Is marker-assisted selection cost-effective compared with conventional plant breeding methods? The case of quality protein maize. In: Evenson RE, Santaniello V, Zilberman D (Eds) *Economic and Social Issues in Agricultural Biotechnology*, CABI Publishing, Wallingford, Oxon, UK, pp 203-236
- **Dubcovsky J** (2004) Marker-assisted selection in public breeding programs: the wheat experience. *Crop Science* **44**, 1895-1898
- Dwiyanti MS, Ujiie A, Thuy LTB, Yamada T, Kitamura K (2007) Genetic analysis of high alpha-tocopherol content in soybean seeds. *Breeding Science* 57, 23-28
- Edwards MD, Page NJ (1994) Evaluation of marker-assisted selection through computer simulation. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 88, 376-382
- Ellis MH, Spielmeyer W, Gale KR, Rebetzke GJ, Richards RA (2002) "Perfect" markers for the *Rht-B1b* and *Rht-D1b* dwarfing genes in wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **105**, 1038-1042
- Ender M, Terpstra K, Kelly J (2007) Marker-assisted selection for white mold resistance in common bean. *Molecular Breeding* in press
- Ferdous SA, Watanabe S, Suzuki-Orihara C, Tanaka Y, Kamiya M, Yamanaka N, Harada K (2006) QTL analysis of resistance to soybean cyst nematode race 3 in soybean cultivar toyomusume. *Breeding Science* **56**, 155-163
- Fjellstrom R, Conaway-Bormans CA, McClung AM, Marchetti MA, Shank AR, Park WD (2004) Development of DNA markers suitable for marker assisted selection of three *Pi* genes conferring resistance to multiple *Pyricularia grisea* pathotypes. *Crop Science* 44, 1790-1798
- Flint-Garcia SA, Darrah LL, McMullen MD, Hibbard BE (2003) Phenotypic versus marker-assisted selection for stalk strength and second-generation European corn borer resistance in maize. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 107, 1331-1336
- Francia E, Tacconi G, Crosatti C, Barabaschi D, Bulgarelli D, Dall'aglio E, Vale G (2005) Marker assisted selection in crop plants. *Plant Cell, Tissue* and Organ Culture 82, 317-342
- Freyre R, Skroch PW, Geffroy V, Adam-Blondon AF, Shirmohamadali A, Johnson WC, Llaca V, Nodari RO, Pereira PA, Tsai SM, Tohme J, Dron M, Nienhuis J, Vallejos CE, Gepts P (1998) Towards an integrated linkage map of common bean. 4. Development of a core linkage map and alignment of RFLP maps. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 97, 847-856
- Frisch M, Melchinger AE (2001) Marker-assisted backcrossing for simultaneous introgression of two genes. Crop Science 41, 1716-1725
- Frova C, Caffulli A, Pallavera E (1998) Mapping quantitative trait loci for tolerance to abiotic stresses in maize. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 282, 164-170

- Fujita D, Doi K, Yoshimura A, Yasui H (2006) Molecular mapping of a novel gene, grh5, conferring resistance to green rice leafhopper (*Nephotettix cincticeps* Uhler) in rice, Oryza sativa L. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 113, 567-573
- Gaitan-Solis E, Duque MC, Edwards KJ, Tohme J (2002) Microsatellite repeats in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*): Isolation, characterization, and cross-species amplification in *Phaseolus* ssp. Crop Science **42**, 2128-2136
- Gallais A, Charcosset A (1994) Efficiency of marker-assisted selection. In: van Ooijen JW, Jansen J (Eds) Biometrics in Plant Breeding: Applications of Molecular Markers Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> Meeting of the EUCARPIA Section, Biometrics in Plant Breeding, Wageningen, the Netherlands, 6-8 July 1994
- Gao AL, He HG, Chen QZ, Zhang SZ, Chen PD (2005) Pyramiding wheat powdery mildew resistance genes *Pm2*, *Pm4a* and *Pm21* by molecular marker-assisted selection. *Acta Agronomica Sinica* 31, 1400-1405
- George MLC, Prasanna BM, Rathore RS, Setty TAS, Kasim F, Azrai M, Vasal S, Balla O, Hautea D, Canama A, Regalado E, Vargas M, Khairallah M, Jeffers D, Hoisington D (2003) Identification of QTLs conferring resistance to downy mildews of maize in Asia. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 107, 544-551
- Gimelfarb A, Lande R (1995) Marker-assisted selection and marker-QTL associations in hybrid populations. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 91, 522-528
- Gregorio GB, Senadhira D, Mendoza RD, Manigbas NL, Roxas JP, Guerta CQ (2002) Progress in breeding for salinity tolerance and associated abiotic stresses in rice. *Field Crops Research* 76, 91-101
- Guo LB, Zhu L, Xu YB, Zeng Da, Wu P, Qian Q (2004) QTL analysis of seed dormancy in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Euphytica* **140**, 155-162
- Gupta PK, Roy JK, Prasad M (2001) Single nucleotide polymorphisms: A new paradigm for molecular marker technology and DNA polymorphism detection with emphasis on their use in plants. *Current Science* 80, 524-535
- Gupta PK, Rustgi S (2004) Molecular markers from the transcribed/expressed region of the genome in higher plants. *Functional and Integrative Genomics* 4, 139-162
- Hai L, Guo HJ, Xiao SH, Jiang GL, Zhang XY, Yan CS, Xin ZY, Jia JZ (2005) Quantitative trait loci (QTL) of stem strength and related traits in a doubled-haploid population of wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). *Euphytica* 141, 1-9
- Haley SD, Afanador LK, Kelly JD (1994) Selection for monogenic pest resistance traits with coupling- and repulsion-phase RAPD markers. Crop Science 34, 1061-1066
- Hayashi K, Hashimoto N, Daigen M, Ashikawa I (2004) Development of PCR-based SNP markers for rice blast resistance genes at the *Piz* locus. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **108**, 1212-1220
- Hayashi K, Yoshida H, Ashikawa I (2006) Development of PCR-based allelespecific and InDel marker sets for nine rice blast resistance genes. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **113**, 251-260
- Hayden MJ, Kuchel H, Chalmers KJ (2004) Sequence tagged microsatellites for the Xgwm533 locus provide new diagnostic markers to select for the presence of stem rust resistance Gene Sr2 in bread wheat (Triticum Aestivum L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 109, 1641-1647
- Hayes AJ, Ma G, Buss GR, Saghai Maroof MA (2000) Molecular mapping of Rsv4, a gene conferring resistance to all known strains of soybean mosaic virus. Crop Science 40, 1434-1437
- Hittalmani S, Foolad MR, Mew T, Rodriguez RL, Huang N (1995) Development of a PCR-based marker to identify rice blast resistance gene, *Pi-2(t)*, in a segregating population. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **91**, 9-14
- Hittalmani S, Parco A, Mew TV, Zeigler RS, Huang N (2000) fine mapping and DNA marker-assisted pyramiding of the three major genes for blast resistance in rice. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 100, 1121-1128
- Hoeck JA, Fehr WR, Shoemaker RC, Welke GA, Johnson SL, Cianzio SR (2003) Molecular marker analysis of seed size in soybean. *Crop Science* **43**, 68-74
- Hospital F, Moreau L, Lacoudre F, Charcosset A, Gallais A (1997) More on the efficiency of marker-assisted selection. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 95, 1181-1189
- Hu ZL, Li P, Zhou MQ, Zhang ZH, Wang LX, Zhu LH, Zhu YG (2004) Mapping of quantitative trait loci (QTLs) for rice protein and fat content using doubled haploid lines. *Euphytica* 135, 47-54
- Huang N, Angeles ER, Domingo J, Magpantay G, Singh S, Zhang G, Kumaravadivel N, Bennett J, Khush GS (1997) Pyramiding of bacterial blight resistance genes in rice: marker-assisted selection using RFLP and PCR. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 95, 313-320
- Hwang TY, Moon JK, Yu S, Yang K, Mohankumar S, Yu YH, Lee YH, Kim SG, Kim HM, Saghai Maroof MA, Jeong SC (2006) Application of comparative genomics in developing molecular markers tightly linked to the virus resistance gene *Rsv4* in soybean. *Genome* 49, 380-388
- Hyten DL, Pantalone VR, Sams CE, Saxton AM, Landau Ellis D, Stefaniak TR, Schmidt ME (2004a) Seed quality QTL in a prominent soybean population. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 109, 552-561
- Hyten DL, Pantalone VR, Saxton AM, Schmidt ME, Sams CE (2004b) Molecular mapping and identification of soybean fatty acid modifier quantitative trait loci. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society* **81**, 1115-1118
- Hyten DL, Hartman GL, Nelson RL, Frederick RD, Concibido VC, Narvel

JM, Cregan PM (2007) Map location of the Rpp1 locus that confers resistance to soybean rust in soybean. *Crop Science* **47**, 837-840

- Iyer-Pascuzzi AS, McCouch SR (2007) Functional markers for xa5-mediated resistance in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Molecular Breeding* 19, 291-296
- Jampatong C, McMullen MD, Barry BD, Darrah LL, Byrne PF, Kross H (2002) Quantitative trait loci for first- and second-generation European corn borer resistance derived from the maize inbred Mo47. Crop Science 42, 584-593
- Jeong SC, Kristipati S, Hayes AJ, Maughan PJ, Noffsinger SL, Gunduz I, Buss GR, Maroof MAS (2002) Genetic and sequence analysis of markers tightly linked to the soybean mosaic virus resistance gene, *Rsv3. Crop Science* 42, 265-270
- Jeong SC, Maroof MAS (2004) Detection and genotyping of SNPs tightly linked to two disease resistance loci, *Rsv1* and *Rsv3*, of soybean. *Plant Breed*ing 123, 305-310
- Jia JH, Zhang DS, Li CY, Qu XP, Wang SW, Chamarerk V, Nguyen HT, Wang B (2001) Molecular mapping of the reverse thermo-sensitive genic male-sterile gene (*rtms1*) in rice. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 103, 607-612
- Jiang GH, Xu CG, Tu JM, HeYQ, Zhang QF (2004) Pyramiding of insectand disease-resistance genes into an elite *indica*, cytoplasm male sterile restorer line of rice, 'Minghui 63'. *Plant Breeding* 123, 112-116
- Joseph M, Gopalakrishnan S, Sharma RK, Singh VP, Singh AK, Singh NK, Mohapatra T (2004) Combining bacterial blight resistance and Basmati quality characteristics by phenotypic and molecular marker-assisted selection in rice. *Molecular Breeding* 13, 377-387
- Jung G, Skroch PW, Coyne DP, Nienhuis J, Arnaud-Santana E, Ariyarathne HM, Kaeppler SM, Bassett MJ (1997) Molecular-markers-based genetic analysis of tepary bean-derived common bacterial blight resistance in different developmental stage of common bean. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 122, 329-337
- Kamoshita A, Ali ML, Pathan MS, Zhang J, Sarkarung S, Nguyen HT (2002) Mapping QTLs for root morphology of a rice population adapted to rainfed lowland conditions. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 104, 880-893
- Keller M, Karutz C, Schmid JE, Stamp P, Winzeler M, Keller B, Messmer MM (1999) Quantitative trait loci for lodging resistance in a segregating wheatxspelt population. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 98, 902-913
- Kelly JD, Miklas PN (1998) The role of RAPD markers in breeding for disease resistance in common bean. *Molecular Breeding* 4, 1-11
- Kelly JD, Gepts P, Miklas PN, Coyne DP (2003) Tagging and mapping of genes and QTL and molecular-marker assisted selection for traits of economic importance in bean and cowpea. *Field Crops Research* **82**, 135-154
- Khairallah MM, Bohn M, Jiang C, Deutsch JA, Jewell DC, Mihm JA, Melchinger AE, Gonzalez-de-Leon D, Hoisington DA (1998) Molecular mapping of QTL for southwestern corn borer resistance, plant height and flowering in tropical maize. *Plant Breeding* 117, 309-318
- Kim KM, Sohn JK, Chung IK (2000) Analysis of OPT8511 RAPD fragments closely linked with cold sensitivity at seedling stage in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Molecular Cells* 10, 382-385
- Kirigwi F, Ginkel M, Brown-Guedira G, Gill B, Paulson G, Fritz A (2007) Markers associated with a QTL for grain yield in wheat under drought. *Molecular Breeding* 20, 410-413
- Knapp SJ (1998) Marker-assisted selection as a strategy for increasing the probability of selecting superior genotypes. Crop Science 38, 1164-1174
- Koebner RMD, Summers RW (2003) 21st century wheat breeding: plot selection or plate detection? *Trends in Biotechnology* **21**, 59-63
- Kong L, Ohm HW, Cambron SE, Williams CE (2005) Molecular mapping determines that Hessian fly resistance gene H9 is located on chromosome 1A of wheat. *Plant Breeding* 124, 525-531
- Kong L, Cambron S, Ohm H (2007) Hessian fly resistance genes H16 and H17 are mapped to a resistance gene cluster in the distal region of chromosome las in wheat. *Molecular Breeding* 20, 410-413
- Kuchel H, Ye GY, Fox R, Jefferies S (2005) Genetic and economic analysis of a targeted marker-assisted wheat breeding strategy. *Molecular Breeding* 16, 67-78
- Kuchel H, Langridge P, Mosionek L, Williams K, Jefferies SP (2006) The genetic control of milling yield, dough rheology and baking quality of wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 111, 1487-1495
- Kumar B, Gomez SM, Boopathi NM, Kumar SS, Kumaresan D, Biji KR, Babu BK, Prasad NSR, Shanmugasundaram P, Babu RC (2005) Identification of microsatellite markers associated with drought tolerance in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) using bulked line analysis. *Tropical Agricultural Research* 17, 39-47
- Kumar M, Luthra OP, Chawla V, Chaudhary L, Saini N, Poonia A, Kumar R, Singh AP (2006) Identification of RAPD markers linked to the karnal blunt resistance genes in wheat. *Biologia Plantarum* 50, 755-758
- Kumar N, Kulwal PL, Balyan HS, Gupta PK (2007) QTL mapping for yield and yield contributing traits in two mapping populations of bread wheat. *Molecular Breeding* 19, 163-177
- Landi P, Sanguineti MC, Darrah LL, Giuliani MM, Salvi S, Conti S, Tuberosa R (2002) Detection of QTLs for vertical root pulling resistance in maize and overlap with QTLs for root traits in hydroponics and for grain yield under different water regimes. *Maydica* 47, 233-243

- Lang NT, Subudhi PK, Virmani SS, Brar DS, Khush GS, Li ZK, Huang N (1999) Development of PCR-based markers for thermosensitive genetic male sterility gene *tms3*(t) in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Hereditas* 131, 121-127
- Lapitan NL, Peng JH, Sharma V (2007) A High-density map PCR markers for Russian wheat aphid resistance gene Dn7 on chromosome 1rs/1bl. Crop Science 47, 811-820
- Lee GJ, Boerma HR, Villagarcia MR, Zhou X, Carter Jr TE, Li Z, Gibbs MO (2004) A major QTL conditioning salt tolerance in S-100 soybean and descendent cultivars. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **109**, 1610-1619
- Lee SH, Walker DR, Cregan PB, Boerma HR (2004) Comparison of four flow cytometric SNP detection assays and their use in plant improvement. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **110**, 167-174
- Lemmens M, Scholz U, Berthiller F, DallAsta C, Koutnik A, Schuhmacher R, Adam G, Buerstmayr H, Mesterházy A, Krska R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) The ability to detoxify the mycotoxin deoxynivalenol colocalizes with a major quantitative trait locus for *Fusarium* head blight resistance in wheat. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 18, 1318-1324
- Li Y, Hill CB, Carlson SR, Diers BW, Hartman GL (2007) Soybean aphis resistance genes in the soybean cultivars Dowling and Jackson map to linkage group M. *Molecular Breeding* 19, 25-34
- Li XH, Liu XD, Li MS, Zhang SH (2003) Identification of quantitative trait loci for anthesis-silking interval and yield components under drought stress in maize. Acta Botanica Sinica 45, 852-857
- Li Z, Paterson AH, Pinson SRM, Stansel JW (1998) Genetic dissection of the source-sink relationship affecting fecundity and yield in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Molecular Breeding* 4, 419-426
- Li Z, Mu P, Li C, Zhang H, Li Z, Gao Y, Wang X (2005) QTL mapping of root traits in a doubled haploid population from a cross between upland and lowland japonica rice in three environments. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 110, 1244-1252
- Li ZK, Yu SB, Lafitte HR, Huang N, Courtois B, Hittalmani S, Vijayakumar CHM, Liu GF, Wang GC, Shashidhar HE, Zhuang JY, Zheng KL, Singh VP, Sidhu JS, Srivantaneeyakul S, Khush GS (2003) QTL x environment interactions in rice. I. Heading date and plant height. *Theoretical* and Applied Genetics 108, 141-153
- Lin HX, Yamamoto T, Sasaki T (2000) Characterization and detection of epistatic interactions of 3 QTLs, *Hd1*, *Hd2*, and *Hd3*, controlling heading date in rice using nearly isogenic lines. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 101, 1021-1028
- Lin HX, Ashikari M, Yamanouchi U, Sasaki T, Yano M (2002) Identification and characterization of a quantitative trait locus, *Hd9*, controlling heading date in rice. *Breeding Science* **52**, 35-41
- Lin HX, Liang ZW, Sasaki T, Yano M (2003) Fine mapping and characterization of quantitative trait loci *Hd4* and *Hd5* controlling heading date in rice. *Breeding Science* 53, 51-59
- Liu PY, Zhu J, Lou X, Lu Y (2003) A method for marker-assisted selection based on QTLs with epistatic effects. *Genetica* 119, 75-86
- Liu PY, Zhu J, Lu Y (2004) Marker-assisted selection in segregating generations of self-fertilizing crops. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 109, 370-376
- Liu PY, Zhu J, Yan L (2006) Impacts of QTL x environment interactions on genetic response to marker-assisted selection. Acta Genetica Sinica 33, 63-71
- Liu S, Griffey CA, Saghai Maroof MA (2001) Identification of molecular markers associated with adult plant resistance to powdery mildew in common wheat cultivar massey. *Crop Science* 41, 1268-1275
- Liu S, Abate Z, McKendry AL (2005a) Inheritance of *Fusarium* head blight resistance in the soft red winter wheat Ernie. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **110**, 454-461
- Liu S, Yu K, Park SJ, Conner RL, Balasubramanian P, Mundel H-H, Kiehn FA (2005b) Marker-assisted selection of common beans for multiple disease resistance. *Annual Report of the Bean Improvement Cooperative* 48, 82-83
- Liu S, Yu K, Park SJ, Conner RL, Balasubramanian P, Mundel H-H, Kiehn FA (2006) Breed multiple disease resistant common beans by marker assisted selection and backcrossing. *The International Plant and Animal Genome Conference*, San Diego, CA, USA, January 14-16, (on CD-ROM)
- Liu S, Abate ZA, Lu H, Musket T, Davis GL, McKendry AL (2007a) QTL associated with *Fusarium* head blight resistance in the soft red winter wheat, Ernie. *Theoretical Applied Genetics* 115, 417-427
- Liu S, Yu K, Park SJ (2007b) Development of STS markers and QTL validation for common bacterial blight resistance in common bean. *Plant Breeding* in press
- Liu SP, Li X, Wang CY, Li XH, He YQ (2003) Improvement of resistance to rice blast in Zhenshan 97 by molecular marker-aided selection. *Acta Botanica Sinica* **45**, 1346-1350
- Liu XM, Gill BS (2002) Identification of microsatellite markers linked to Russian wheat aphid resistance genes *Dn4* and *Dn6*. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 104, 1042-1048
- Liu XM, Fritz AK, Reese JC, Wilde GE, Gill BS, Chen M-S (2005a) H9, H10, and H11 compose a cluster of Hessian fly-resistance genes in the distal gene-rich region of wheat chromosome 1AS. *Theoretical and Applied Gene*tics 110, 1473-1480
- Liu XM, Gill BS, Chen MS (2005b) Hessian fly resistance gene H13 is mapped to a distal cluster of resistance genes in chromosome 6DS of wheat.

Theoretical and Applied Genetics 111, 243-249

- Liu XC, Wu JL (1998) SSR heterogenic patterns of parents for marking and predicting heterosis in rice breeding. *Molecular Breeding* **4**, 263-268
- Luo LJ, Li ZK (2001) QTL dissection of panicle number per plant and spikelet number per panicle in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Acta Genetica Sinica 28, 752-759
- Luo YC, Wang SH, Li CQ, Wang DZ, Wu S, Du SY (2003) Breeding of the photoperiod-sensitive genetic male-sterile line '3418S' resistant to bacterial bright in rice by molecular marker-assisted selection. *Acta Agronomica Sinica* 29, 402-407
- Ma ZQ, Sorrells ME, Tanksley SD (1994) RFLP markers linked to powdery mildew resistance genes *Pm1*, *Pm2*, *Pm3*, and *Pm4* in wheat. *Genome* 37, 871-875
- Mackill DJ, Nguyen HT, Zhang JX (1999) Use of molecular markers in plant improvement programs for rainfed lowland rice. *Field Crops Research* 64, 177-185
- Mahuku G, Montoya C, Henriquez MA, Jara C, Teran H, Beebe S (2004) Inheritance and characterization of angular leaf spot resistance gene present in common bean accession G 10474 and identification of an AFLP marker linked to the resistance gene. *Crop Science* 44, 1817-1824
- Martin EM, Eastwood RF, Ogbonnaya FC (2004) Identification of microsatellite markers associated with the cereal cyst nematode resistance gene *Cre3* in wheat. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **55**, 1205-1211
- McCartney CA, Somer DJ, McCallum BD, Thomas J, Humphreys DG, Menzies JG, Brown PD (2005) Microsatellite tagging of the leaf rust resistance gene Lr16 on wheat chromosome 2BSc. Molecular Breeding 15, 329-337
- McCouch SR, Teytelman ML, Xu Y, Lobos KB, Clare K, Walton M, Fu B, Maghirang R, Li Z, Xing Y, Zhang Q, Kono I, Yano M, Fjellstrom R, de Clerck G, Schneider D, Carinhour S, Ware D, Stein L (2002) Development and mapping of 2240 new SSR markers for rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). DNA Research 9,199-207
- Melotto M, Afanador L, Kelly JD (1996) Development of a SCAR marker linked to the *I* gene in common bean. *Genome* **39**, 1216-1219
- Melotto M, Kelly JD (2001) Fine mapping of the Co-4 locus of common bean reveal a resistance gene candidate, COK-4 that encodes for a protein kinase. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **103**, 508-517
- Métais I, Hamon B, Jalouzot R, Peltier D (2002) Structure and level of genetic diversity in various bean types evidenced with microsatellite markers isolated from a genomic enriched library. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 104, 1346-1352
- Mian MAR, Wang TY, Phillips DV, Alvernaz J, Boerman HR (1999) Molecular mapping of the *Rcs3* gene for resistance to frogeye leaf spot in soybean. *Crop Science* **39**, 1687-1691
- Miedaner T, Wilde F, Steiner B, Buerstmayr H, Korzun V, Ebmeyer E (2006) Stacking quantitative trait loci (QTL) for *Fusarium* head blight resistance from non-adapated sources in an European elite spring wheat background and assessing their effect on deoxinivalenol (DON) content and disease severity. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **111**, 562-569
- Miklas PN, Smith JR, Riley R, Grafton KF, Singh SP, Jung G, Coyne DP (2000a) Marker-assisted breeding for pyramided resistance to common bacterial blight in common bean. *The Annual Report of the Bean Improvement Cooperative* **43**, 39-40
- Miklas PN, Larsen RC, Riley R, Kelly JD (2000b) Potential marker-assisted selection for  $bc-1^2$  resistance to bean common mosaic potyvirus in common bean. *Euphytica* **116**, 211-219
- Miklas PN, Kelly JD, Beebe SE, Blair MW (2006a) Common bean breeding for resistance against biotic and abiotic stresses: from classical to MAS breeding. *Euphytica* 147, 105-131
- Miklas PN, Smith JR, Singh SP (2006b) Registration of common bacterial blight resistant dark red kidney bean germplasms line USDK-CBB-15. Crop Science 46, 1005-1006
- Miklas PN, Bosak KM (2006c) Marker-assisted backcrossing of QTL for resistance to Sclerotinia white mold in pinto bean. *The Annual Report of the Bean Improvement Cooperative* 49, 67-68
- Miller CA, Altinkut A, Lapitan NLV (2001) A microsatellite marker for tagging *Dn2*, a wheat gene conferring resistance to the Russian wheat aphid. *Crop Science* **41**, 1584-1589
- Molnar SJ, Rai S, Charette M, Cober ER (2003) Simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers linked to E1, E3, E4, and E7 maturity genes in soybean. Genome 46, 1024-1036
- Moreau L, Charcosset A, Hospital F, Gallais A (1998) Marker-assisted selection efficiency in populations of finite size. *Genetics* 148, 1353-1365
- Mudge J, Cregan PB, Kenworthy JP, Kenworthy WJ, Orf JH (1997) Two microsatellite markers that flank the major soybean cyst nematode resistance locus. Crop Science 37, 1611-1615
- Mutlu N, Miklas PN, Reiser J, Coyne DP (2005) Backcross breeding for improved resistance to common bacterial blight in pinto bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *Plant Breeding* 124, 282-287
- Narayanan NN, Baisakh N, Cruz CMV, Gnanamanickam SS, Datta K, Datta SK (2002) molecular breeding for the development of blast and bacterial blight resistance in rice cv. Ir50. *Crop Science* **42**, 2072-2079

Narayanan NN, Baisakh N, Oliva NP, Veracruz CM, Gnanamanickam SS,

**Datta K, Datta SK** (2004) Molecular breeding: marker-assisted selection combined with biolistic transformation for blast and bacterial blight resistance in indica rice (cv. Co39) *Molecular Breeding* **14**, 61-71

- Nelson RJ, Naylor RL, and Jahn MM (2004) The role of genomics research in improvement of 'orphan' crops. Crop Science 44, 1901-1904
- Njiti VN, Lightfoot DA (2006) Genetic analysis infers *Dt* loci underlie resistance to *Fusarium solani* f. sp glycines in indeterminate soybeans. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* **86**, 83-90
- Nocente F, Gazza L, Pasquini M (2007) Evaluation of leaf rust resistance genes Lr1, Lr9, Lr24, Lr47 and their introgression into common wheat cultivars by marker-assisted selection. *Euphytica* 155, 329-336
- Panthee DR, Kwanyuen P, Sams CE, West DR, Saxton AM, Pantalone VR (2004) Quantitative trait loci for beta-conglycinin (7S) and glycinin (11S) fractions of soybean storage protein. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists'* Society 81, 1005-1012
- Papst C, Melchinger AE, Eder J, Schulz B, Klein D, Bohn M (2001) QTL mapping for resistance to European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis* Hb.) in early maturing European dent maize (*Zea mays* L.) germplasm and comparison of genomic regions for resistance across two populations of F<sub>3</sub> families. *Maydica* 46, 195-205
- Park SJ, Yu K (2004) Molecular marker-assisted selection techniques for gene pyramiding of multiple disease resistance in common bean: a plant breeder prospective. Annual Report of the Bean Improvement Cooperative 47, 73-74
- Paul PA, Lipps PE, Madden LV (2005) Relationship between visual estimates of *Fusarium* head blight intensity and deoxynivalenol accumulation in harvested wheat grain: A meta analysis. *Phytopathology* 95, 1225-1236
- Pedrosa A, Vallejos CE, Bachmair A (2003) Integration of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) linkage and chromosomal maps. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 106, 205-212
- Peng JH, Fahima T, Roder MS, Li YC, Grama A (2000) Microsatellite highdensity mapping of the stripe rust resistance gene *YrH52* region on chromosome 1B and evaluation of its marker-assisted selection in the F<sub>2</sub> generation in wild emmer wheat. *New Phytologist* 146, 141-154
- Phan HT, Tong VH, Nguyen DB, Nguyen TLH (2005) Application of DNA marker for identifying resistant genes to bacterial leaf blight of rice. Bulletin of the Institute of Tropical Agriculture (Kyushu University) 28, 15-24
- Podlich DW, Winkler CR, Cooper M (2004) Mapping As You Go: an effective approach for marker-assisted selection of complex traits. *Crop Science* 44, 1560-1571
- Primomo VS, Poysa V, Ablett GR, Jackson CJ, Gijzen M, Rajcan I (2005) Mapping QTL for individual and total isoflavone content in soybean seeds. *Crop Science* 45, 2454-2464
- Pumphfrey MO, Bernardo R, Anderson JA (2007) Validating the Fhb1 QTL for fusarium head blight resistance in near-isogenic wheat lines developed from breeding populations. *Crop Science* 47, 200-206
- Quarrie SA, Stojanović J, Pekić S (1999) Improving drought resistance in small-grained cereals: A case study, progress and prospects. *Plant Growth Regulation* 29, 1-21
- Renganayaki K, Fritz AK, Sadasivam S, Pammi S, Harrington SE, McCouch SR, Kumar SM, Reddy AS (2002) Mapping and progress toward map-based cloning of brown planthopper biotype-4 resistance gene introgressed from Oryza officinalis into cultivated rice, O. sativa. Crop Science 42, 2112-2117
- Ribaut JM, Hoisington DA, Deutsch JA, Jiang C, Gonzalez de Leon D (1996) Identification of quantitative trait loci under drought conditions in tropical maize. 1. Flowering parameters and the anthesis-silking interval. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 92, 905-914
- Ribaut JM, Jiang C, Gonzalez de Leon D, Edmeades GO (1997) Identification of quantitative trait loci under drought conditions in tropical maize. 2. Yield components and marker-assisted selection strategies. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 94, 887-896
- Ribaut JM, Betrán J (1999) Single large-scale marker-assisted selection (SLS-MAS). Molecular Breeding 5, 531-541
- Ribaut JM, Ragot M (2007) Marker-assisted selection to improve drought adaptation in maize: the backcross approach, perspectives, limitations, and alternatives. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58, 351-360
- Röder MS, Korzun V, Wendehake K, Plaschke J, Tixier MH, Leroy P, Ganal MW (1998) A microsatellite map of wheat. *Genetics* 149, 2007-2023
- Rudd JC, Horsley RD, McKendry AL, Elias EM (2001) Host plant resistance genes for Fusarium head blight: sources, mechanisms and utility in conventional breeding systems. *Crop Science* 41, 620-627
- Sala RG, Andrade FH, Camadro EL, Cerono JC (2006) Quantitative trait loci for grain moisture at harvest and field grain drying rate in maize (Zea mays L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 112, 462-471
- Salvi S, Tuberosa R, Phillips RL (2001) Development of PCR-based assays for allelic discrimination in maize by using the 5'-nuclease procedure. *Molecular Breeding* **2**, 169-176
- Sanchez AC, Brar DS, Huang N, Li Z (2000) Sequence tagged site markerassisted selection for three bacterial blight resistance genes in rice. *Crop Science* 40, 792-797
- Sandhu D, Schallock KG, Rivera-Velez N, Lundeen P, Cianzio S, Bhattacharyya MK (2005) Soybean *Phytophthora* resistance gene *Rps8* maps closely to the *Rps3* region. *Journal of Heredity* 96, 536-541

- Sardesai N, Nemacheck JA, Subramanyam S, Williams CE (2005) Identification and mapping of H32, a new wheat gene conferring resistance to Hessian fly. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 111, 1167-1173
- Schneider KA, Brothers ME, Kelly JD (1997a) Marker-assisted selection to improve drought resistance in common bean. Crop Science 37, 51-60
- Schneider KA, Rosales-Serna R, Ibarra-Perez F, Cazares-Enriquez B, Acosta-Gallegos JA, Ramirez-Vallejo P, Wassimi N, Kelly JD (1997b) Improving common bean performance under drought stress. Crop Science 37, 43-50
- Schwartz D (1960) Electrophoretic and immunochemical studies with endosperm proteins of maize mutants. *Genetics* 45, 1419-1427
- Sharma RC, Duveiller E, Jacquemin JM (2007) Microsatellite markers associated with spot blotch resistance in spring wheat. *Journal of Phytopathology* 155, 316-319
- Sharma TR, Shanker P, Singh BK, Jana TK, Madhav MS, Galkwad K, Singh NK, Plaha P, Rathour R (2005) Molecular mapping of rice blast resistance gene *Pi-k<sup>h</sup>* in the rice variety Tetep. *Journal of Plant Biochemistry* and Biotechnology 14, 127-133
- Singh R, Tiwari R (2005) Selection in early breeding generations for leaf rust resistance genes in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) with molecular markers. *Plant Cell Biotechnology and Molecular Biology* 6, 95-100
- Singh S, Sidhu JS, Huang N, Vikal Y, Li Z, Brar DS, Dhaliwal HS, Khush GS (2001) Pyramiding three bacterial blight resistance genes (xa5, xa13 and Xa21) using marker-assisted selection into indica rice cultivar PR106. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 102, 1011-1015
- Slikova, Gregova E, Bartos P, Hanzalova A, Hudcovicova M, Kraic J (2004) Development of wheat genotypes possessing a combination of leaf rust resistance genes Lr19 and Lr24. Plant, Soil and Environment 50, 434-438
- Smith PH, Hadfield J, Hart NJ, Koebner RMD, Boyd LA (2007) Sts markers for wheat yellow rust resistance gene Yr5 suggest a Nbs-Lrr-type resistance gene cluster. *Genome* 50, 259-265
- Somers DJ, George F, Marc S (2003) Molecular mapping of novel genes controlling *Fusarium* head blight resistance and deoxynivalenol accumulation in spring wheat. *Genome* 46, 555-564
- Somers DJ, Isaac P, Edwards K (2004) A high-density microsatellite consensus map for bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 109, 1105-1114
- Song QJ, Shi JR, Singh S, Fickus EW, Costa JM, Lewis J, Gill BS, Ward R, Cregan PB (2005) Development and mapping of microsatellite (SSR) markers in wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 110, 550-560
- Spencer MM, Landau Ellis D, Meyer EJ, Pantalone VR (2004) Molecular markers associated with linolenic acid content in soybean. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society* 81, 559-562
- Su CC, Wan J, Zhai HQ, Wang CM, Sun LH, Yasui H, Yoshimura A (2005) A new locus for resistance to brown planthopper identified in the *indica* rice variety DV85. *Plant Breeding* 124, 93-95
- Su CC, Zhai HQ, Wang CM, Sun LH, Wan JM (2006) SSR mapping of brown planthopper resistance gene *Bph9* in Kaharamana, an indica rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) *Acta Genetica Sinica* 33, 262-268
- Sun LH, Su CC, Wang CM, Zhai HQ, Wan JM (2005) Mapping of a major resistance gene to the brown planthopper in the rice cultivar Rathu Heenati. *Breeding Science* 55, 391-396
- Sun LH, Wang CM, Su CC, Liu YQ, Zhai HQ, Wan JM (2006) Mapping and marker-assisted selection of a brown planthopper resistance gene *bph2* in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Acta Genetica Sinica 33, 717-723
- Tamulonis JP, Nickell CD, Bent AF (2001) Molecular markers linked to brown stem rot resistance genes, *Rbs1* and *Rbs2*, in soybean. *Crop Science* 41, 527-535
- Tan GX, Ren X, Weng QM, Shi ZY, Zhu LL, He GC (2004) Mapping of a new resistance gene to bacterial blight in rice line introgressed from Oryza officinalis. Acta Genetica Sinica 31, 724-729
- Tar'an B, Michaels TE, Pauls KP (2003) Marker-assisted selection for complex trait in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) using QTL-based index. *Euphytica* 130, 423-432
- Thompson R (1990) Efficiency of marker-assisted selection in the improvement of quantitative traits. *Genetics* 124, 743-756
- Tommasini L, Yahiaoui N, Srichumpa P, Keller B (2006) Development of functional markers specific for seven Pm3 resistance alleles and their validation in the bread wheat gene pool. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 114, 165-175
- Tucker DM, Griffey CA, Liu S, Maroof MAS (2006) Potential for effective marker-assisted selection of three quantitative trait loci conferring adult plant resistance to powdery mildew in elite wheat breeding populations. *Plant Breeding* 125, 430-436
- Tucker DM, Griffey CA, Liu S, Brown-Guedira G, Marshall DS, Maroof MAS (2007) confirmation of three quantative trait loci conferring adult plant resistance to powdery mildew in two winter wheat populations. *Euphytica* 155, 1-13
- Turner AS, Bradburne RP, Fish L, Snape JW (2004) New quantitative trait loci influencing grain texture and protein content in bread wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science* 40, 51-60

Tuvesson S, Dayteg C, Hagberg P, Manninen O, Tanhuanpaeae P, Tenhola-Roininen T, Kiviharju E, Weyen J, Foerster J, Schondelmaier J, Lafferty J, Marn M, Fleck A (2006) Molecular markers and doubled haploids in European plant breeding programmes. *Euphytica* **158**, 305-312

- Uauy C, Brevis JC, Chen XM, Khan I, Jackson L, Chicaiza O, Distelfeld A, Fahima T, Dubcovsky J (2005) High-temperature adult-plant (HTAP) stripe rust resistance gene Yr36 from Triticum turgidum ssp. dicoccoides is closely linked to the grain protein content locus Gpc-B1. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 112, 97-105
- van Berloo R, Stam P (1998) Marker-assisted selection in autogamous RIL populations: a simulation study. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 96, 147-154
- Vos P, Hogers R, Bleeker M, Reijans M, van de Lee T, Hornes M, Frijters A, Pot J, Peleman J, Kuiper M, Zabeau M (1995) AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. *Nucleic Acids Research* 23, 4407-4414
- Walker DR, Narvel JM, Boerma HR, All JN, Parrott WA (2004) A QTL that enhances and broadens Bt insect resistance in soybean. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 109, 1051-1057
- Wan JL, Zhai HQ, Wan JM, Yasui H, Yoshimura A (2003) Mapping QTL for traits associated with resistance to ferrous iron toxicity in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.), using japonica chromosome segment substitution lines. Acta Genetica Sinica 30, 893-893
- Wan JM, Jiang L, Tang JY, Wang CM, Hou MY, Jing W, Zhang LX (2006) Genetic dissection of the seed dormancy trait in cultivated rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Plant Science (Oxford)* 170, 786-792
- Wang CL, Qi HX, Pan HJ, Li JB, Fan YL, Zhang Q, Zhao KJ (2005) ESTmarkers flanking the rice bacterial blight resistance gene Xa23 and their application in marker-assisted selection. Scientia Agricultura Sinica 38, 1996-2001
- Wang JK, Chapman SC, Bormett DG, Rebezke GJ, Crouch J (2007) Application of population genetic theory and simulation models to efficiently pyramid multiple genes via marker-assisted selection. *Crop Science* 47, 582-590
- Wang YH, Liu SJ, Ji SL, Zhang WW, Wang CM, Jiang L, Wan JM (2005) Fine mapping and marker-assisted selection (MAS) of a low glutelin content gene in rice. *Cell Research* 15, 622-630
- Wang Z, Jia Y, Rutger JN, Xia Y (2007) Rapid survey for presence of a blast resistance gene Pi-ta in rice cultivars using the dominant DNA markers derived from portions of the Pi-ta gene. *Plant Breeding* 126, 36-42
- Watanabe N, Akond ASMGM, Nachit MM (2006) Genetic mapping of the gene affecting polyphenol oxidase activity in tetraploid durum wheat. *Jour*nal of Applied Genetics 47, 201-205
- Weng Y, Lazar MD (2002) Amplified fragment length polymorphism- and simple sequence repeat-based molecular tagging and mapping of greenbug resistance gene Gb3 in wheat. *Plant Breeding* 121, 218-223
- Weng Y, Li W, Devkota RN, Rudd JC (2005) Microsatellite markers associated with two Aegilops tauschii-derived greenbug resistance loci in wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 110, 462-469
- Williams JGK, Kubelik AR, Livak KJ, Rafalski JA, Tingey SV (1990) DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. *Nucleic Acids Research* 18, 6531-6535
- Wong JC, Lambert RJ, Wurtzel ET, Rocheford TR (2004) QTL and candidate genes phytoene synthase and zeta-carotene desaturase associated with the accumulation of carotenoids in maize. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 108, 349-359
- Wu KS, Tanksley SD (1993) Abundance, polymorphism and genetic mapping of microsatellites in rice. *Molecular and General Genetics* 241, 225-235
- Xie C, Xu S (1998) Efficiency of multistage marker-assisted selection in the improvement of multiple quantitative traits. *Heredity* 80, 489-498
- Xu XY, Bai GH, Carver BF, Shaner GE, Hunger RM (2005) Molecular characterization of slow leaf-rusting resistance in wheat. Crop Science 45, 758-765
- Yamamoto T, Lin HX, Sasaki T, Yano M (2000) Identification of heading date quantitative trait locus *Hd6* and characterization of its epistatic interactions with *Hd2* in rice using advanced backcross progeny. *Genetics* 154, 885-891
- Yang WP, Zheng YL, Zheng WT, Feng R (2005) molecular genetic mapping of a high-lysine mutant gene (*Opaque-16*) and the double recessive effect with *Opaque-2* in maize. *Molecular Breeding* **15**, 257-269
- Yi G, Lee SK, Hong YK, Cho YC, Nam MH, Kim SC, Han SS, Wang GL, Hahn TR, Ronald PC, Jeon JS (2004) Use of Pi5(t) markers in markerassisted selection to screen for cultivars with resistance to Magnaporthe grisea. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 109, 978-985
- Yu K, Park SJ, Poysa V (1999) Abundance and variation of microsatellite DNA sequences in beans (*Phaseolus* and *Vigna*). Genome 42, 27-34
- Yu K, Park SJ, Poysa V (2000a) Marker-assisted selection of common beans for resistance to common bacterial blight: efficacy and economics. *Plant Breeding* 119, 411-415
- Yu K, Park SJ, Poysa V, Gepts P (2000b) Integration of simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers into a molecular linkage map of common bean (*Phase-olus vulgaris* L.). Journal of Heredity **91**, 429-434
- Yu K, Poysa V, Haffner M, Zhang BL, Woodrow L (2005) Absence of the A4 peptide in the G4 glycinin subunit of soybean cultivar Enrei is caused by a point mutation in the y4 gene. *Genetics and Molecular Biology* 28, 440-443
- Zeng XY, Zhang ZY, Du LP, Xin ZY, Chen X (2005) Development of wheat germplasms with multi-resistance to powdery mildew, stripe rust and yellow

dwarf virus by molecular marker-assisted selection. Scientia Agricultura Sinica 38, 2380-2386

- Zhang J, Li X, Xu Y, He Y (2006) Pyramiding of Xa7 and Xa21 for the improvement of disease resistance to bacterial blight in hybrid rice. *Plant Breeding* 125, 600-605
- Zhang N, Yang WX, Li YN, Zhang T, Liu DQ (2007) Developing molecular markers for leaf rust resistance gene Lr45 in wheat based SSR. Acta Agronomica Sinica 33, 657-662
- Zhang SL, Ni DH, Yi CX, Li L, Wang XF, Wang ZY, Yang JB (2005) Lowering grain amylose content in backcross offsprings of indica rice variety 057 by molecular marker-assisted selection. *Rice Science* 12, 157-162
- Zhang YB, Sun LF, Xin WL, Song QJ, Zhang CL, Zhao HB, Xiao ZM, Qi SY (2003) Effect of HMW-GS 5+10 on quality parameters in four leading wheat cultivars. *Agricultural Sciences in China* 2, 483-488
- Zhang YM, Mao Y, Xie C, Smith H, Luo L, Xu S (2005) Mapping quantitative trait loci using naturally occurring genetic variance among commercial inbred lines of maize (*Zea mays* L.). *Genetics* **169**, 2267-2275

Zhang ZH, Yu SB, Yu T, Huang Z, Zhu YG (2005) Mapping quantitative trait

loci (QTLs) for seedling-vigor using recombinant inbred lines of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Field Crops Research* **91**, 161-170

- Zhang ZY, Xu JS, Xu QJ, Larkin P, Xin ZY (2004) Development of novel PCR markers linked to the BYDV resistance gene Bdv2 useful in wheat for marker-assisted selection. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 109, 433-439
- Zhao HX, Liu XM, Chen MS (2006) H22, a major resistance gene to the Hessian fly (Mayetiola destructor) is mapped to the distal region of wheat chromosome 1ds. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 113, 1491-1496
- Zhou LL, Bai GH, Ma HX, Carver BF (2007) Quantative trait loci for aluminum resistance in wheat. *Molecular Breeding* 19, 153-161
- Zhu LC, Smith CM, Fritz A, Boyko E, Voothuluru P, Gill BS (2005) Inheritance and molecular mapping of new greenbug resistance genes in wheat germplasms derived from Aegilops tauschii. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 111, 831-837
- Zwart RS, Thompson JP, Sheedy JG, Nelson JC (2006) Mapping quantitative trait loci for resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* from synthetic hexaploid wheat in the International Triticeae Mapping Initiative (ITMI) population. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **57**, 525-530